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1. CChair''s foreeword
 
This llast year hass seen the efffective integration of the new roles a nd responsibbilities we accquired in 
the HHealth and Soocial Care Acct 2012. Thee Accredited Registers programme forr health and social care 
profeessions not coovered by statutory regisstration alreaady covers 655,000 practitiioners in 25 health and 
care occupations and 18 regissters have beeen accreditted. Accrediteed registers are a new annd 
propoortionate appproach to prooviding assurrance in the health and care workforcce. We are p leased they 
are gaining accepptance and reecognition. 

We hhave also firmmly establish ed the proceess for providding advice too the Privy CCouncil on apppointments 
to thee councils of the regulatoors, ensuring that merit, inndependencee and openn ness are centtral. During 
the laast year, we aadvised the regulators, aand consequeently the Privvy Council, oon 14 appointments by 
six reegulators. Ouur new respoonsibility to mmanage our oown Board apppointments was commeenced during 
the yeear and the ffirst two appoointments weere made byy the Privy Coouncil. 

The ffinal key elemment of the 22012 legislati on is the chaange to our funding basiss. This will coome into 
effectt on 1 Augusst 2015, the FFee Regulatiions having ccome into forrce in April. OOur Governaance and 
Operations team has worked hard to preppare for the cchange and t o restructuree our accounting and 
reporrting arrangeements to enssure transpaarency betweeen our four income streaams.  

Durinng the last yeear, we also sstrengthenedd our legal reesources andd reshaped t the way we aapproach thee 
assesssment of finnal fitness to practise deccisions by thee regulators. We have revviewed over 4,000 
decissions. We ap pealed 22 caases to the HHigh Court. OOur appeals wwere settled by consent or upheld in 
all thoose cases. 

We aare also plannning to improove and refoccus our proccess for revieewing the perrformance off the health 
and ssocial care reegulators. Exxtensive disccussions withh the regulatoors have resuulted in prop osals for a 
moree risk-based aapproach thaat will allow uus to focus d irectly on pa rticular regullatory functioons. A 
formaal consultatioon will take pplace this summmer with the new arranggements comming into effeect in 
autummn 2015. 

Our ccommitment to improvingg regulation aand building a research bbase has conntinued with wwork on the 
reseaarch potentiaal of our own database in  association with Surrey University, aa successful research 
confeerence and aa new collabooration with SSt Catherine’s College, OOxford. We aare also revissing our 
right--touch regulaation in light oof its practicaal applicationns so far. 

The ddelivery of this substantiaal programmee of work is aa tribute to our hard-workking and taleented staff 
but also to the efffective oversight of the Booard. We aree fortunate inn the quality and commitmment of our 
non-eexecutives a nd their strattegic directioon for the Autthority. We wwere sorry to lose Sally Irrvine and 
Ann CCurno at the end of their period in off ice; they bott uge contribut t uality of ourh made a hu ion to the qu 
work.. We are pleaased to welccome Antonyy Townsend aand Renata DDrinkwater inn their place . I am 
confiddent that thee Authority is well led by tthe directors and Board aas we go throough further challenging 
timess. 

Baronness Jill Pitk eathley OBEE 
Chairr 
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2. 	 Strategic report 
About the Professional Standards Authority 

Who we are 

2.1 	 The Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care (the Authority) 
was established on 1 December 2012. Its role and duties are set out in the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012.1 

2.2 	 The Authority continues the work of the Council for Health Care Regulatory 
Excellence (CHRE), which was constituted by the Health and Social Care Act 
20082 and was a transformation of the Council for the Regulation of Health 
Professionals (set up in April 2003 by the National Health Service Reform and 
Health Care Professions Act 2002).3 

2.3 	 The Authority has a Board comprising seven non-executive members and one 
executive member, the Chief Executive, who is appointed by the Board.  

2.4 	 The non-executive members are appointed by the Privy Council, Scottish and 
Welsh ministers, and the Department of Health, Social Services and Public 
Safety in Northern Ireland. 

2.5 	 The Authority, which is currently classified as an unclassified public body, was 
funded during 2014/2015 by the Department of Health in England and by the 
devolved administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales.  

Our role and what it entails 

2.6 	 Under the acts of Parliament that govern what we do, we have the powers to 
carry out a range of activities to promote the health and well-being of patients, 
service users and the public in relation to the regulation of health and social care 
professionals. 

2.7 	 We have duties and powers in relation to: 

	 The oversight of nine statutory bodies that regulate health and social care 
professionals in the UK 

	 The provision of advice to, and undertaking investigations for, government 

	 The accreditation of the voluntary registers held by non-statutory regulators 
of health and care professionals 

	 The provision of advice to other similar organisations in the UK and 
overseas. 

1 
Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted 

2 
Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/14/contents 

3 
Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/17/contents 
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What we do 

Oversight of the regulators 

2.8 	 The Authority has powers to: 

	 Audit the initial stages of fitness to practise cases and report on our findings 
in relation to each regulator 

	 Review the outcome of final fitness to practise cases and to refer them to 
court if we consider that the outcome is unduly lenient and fails to protect the 
public 

	 Investigate, compare and report on the performance of each regulatory body. 
We are specifically required to report to Parliament on how far each 
regulatory body has complied with any duty imposed on it to promote the 
health, safety and well-being of patients, service users and the public  

	 Give directions requiring a regulatory body to make rules under any power 
the body has to do so. 

2.9 	 We promote the health and well-being of patients, service users and the public in 
the regulation of health and social care professionals. To do this, we listen to 
people’s views and concerns and consider them when developing our work. We 
have an active programme of engagement with patients, service users and 
members of the public. 

2.10 	 We assist the Privy Council in the exercise of their appointment powers in 
respect of the regulatory bodies, and support the quality of appointments to 
regulators’ councils. In consultation with the regulatory bodies, we have produced 
standards for the Privy Council relating to recruitment and appointments to the 
regulators’ councils. 

2.11 	 We scrutinise and oversee the work of the nine regulatory bodies that set 
standards for the training and conduct of health and social care professionals. 

2.12 	 We promote good practice and right-touch regulation. We work with the 
regulatory bodies to improve quality and share good practice. For example, we 
share learning points arising from the scrutiny of fitness to practise cases and 
organise seminars to explore regulation issues. 

2.13 	 We share good practice and knowledge with the regulatory bodies, conduct 
research and introduce new ideas about regulation to the sector. We work closely 
with, and advise, the four UK government health departments on issues relating 
to the regulation of health and care professionals. In addition, we monitor policy 
in the UK and Europe. 

2.14 	 The regulatory bodies are the: 

	 General Chiropractic Council (GCC) which regulates chiropractors in the 
UK 

	 General Dental Council (GDC) which regulates dentists, dental nurses, 
dental technicians, dental hygienists, dental therapists, clinical dental 
technicians and orthodontic therapists in the UK 

	 General Medical Council (GMC) which regulates doctors in the UK 
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 Generral Opticall Council ((GOC) whiich regulates optomeetrists, disppensing 
opticiaans, studennt opticianss and opticcal businessses in the UK 

	 Generral Osteoppathic Couuncil (GOssC) which rregulates oosteopathss in the UKK 

	 Generral Pharmaaceutical CCouncil (GGPhC) which regulatees pharmaacists and 
pharmacy technicians in Enngland, Waales and SScotland 

	 Healthh and Caree Professiions Counncil (HCPCC) which reegulates arrts 
therapists, biomeedical scientists, chiropodists/podiatrists, clinical sc ientists, 
dieticiaans, hearinng aid disppensers, occcupational therapistss, operating 
departtment practitioners, oorthoptists, paramediccs, physiottherapists, 
practitiioner psychologists, prosthetistts and orthhotists, radiographerss and 
speechh and language theraapists in thhe UK, and social workers in Enngland 

	 Nursinng and Middwifery Coouncil (NMMC) which regulates nurses annd 
midwivves in the UUK 

	 Pharmmaceuticall Society oof Northerrn Ireland (PSNI) whhich regulates 
pharmacists in NNorthern Ireeland. 

2.15 	 DDetails of tthe numbeer of registrrants in ea ch health aand social care profeessional 
rregulator wwe overseee (as at 31 March 2015) are shown beloww. 

Table 1 Number of registrants per health aand social ccare professional regulaator 
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Advice to, and investigations for, governments 

UK-wide regulation; working with all four governments 

2.16 	 We support the work of the Secretary of State, the National Assembly for Wales, 
Scottish ministers and the Department of Health, Social Services and Public 
Safety in Northern Ireland on issues affecting the regulation of health and social 
care professionals and any matter connected with a health or care profession. 

Advising health ministers 

2.17 	 The Secretary of State and Health ministers in Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland may request advice from us about the regulation of health and/or social 
care professionals or request that we investigate matters of concern. 

2.18 	 The cost of this work is currently funded by the Department of Health and the 
devolved administrations. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 states that when 
the Authority is independent, the Department of Health and devolved 
administrations will pay a fee, to be determined by the Authority, for this work.  

2.19 	 We consult with the UK government and the governments in Wales, Scotland 
and Northern Ireland on the development of guidelines for the sector. In addition, 
we keep abreast of international policies, particularly in Europe, that may affect 
health and social care regulation in the UK. We work with colleagues in the UK 
and abroad, ensuring that we are aware of these developments and that we 
strengthen our relationships with these partners. 

Accreditation of voluntary registers 

2.20 	 The Authority has a role in strengthening quality and patient safety by setting 
standards for voluntary registers and accrediting them.  

2.21 	 The purpose of the accreditation programme is to encourage the development of 
professional conduct, ethical practice and high standards of performance in 
groups associated with, or affiliated to, the delivery of health and social care 
where the occupation is not statutorily regulated. 

2.22 	 We provide information about the accreditation programme on our website and 
work with interested groups to encourage their participation in the scheme and 
their preparation for accreditation. 

Advice provided to other organisations 

2.23 	 Our legislation permits us to provide advice or auditing services to regulatory 
bodies and to others that have similar functions to those of a regulatory body, 
whether or not these functions relate to health or social care. This work is paid for 
by the organisation requesting the advice. 

Our values 

2.24 	 Our values act as a framework for our decision-making. They are at the heart of 
who we are and how we would like to be seen by our partners. We are committed 
to being: 

 Focused on the public interest 

 Independent 
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 Fair 

 Transparent 

 Proportionate. 

2.25 	 Our values will be explicit in the way we work: how we approach our oversight of 
the registration and regulation of those who work in health and social care, how 
we develop policy advice and how we engage with all our partners. We will be 
consistent in the application of our values in what we do. 

2.26 	 We are independent but hold ourselves accountable to the public and to the 
parliaments and assemblies of the UK for what we do and how we do it.   

2.27 	 We listen to the views of people who receive care. We seek to ensure that their 
views are acted upon in the registration and regulation of people who work in 
health and social care. 

2.28 	 We promote and support right-touch regulation.4 This is regulation that is based 
on an assessment of risk that is targeted and proportionate and provides a 
framework in which professionalism can flourish and organisational excellence 
can be achieved.5 We will apply the principles of right-touch regulation to our own 
work. 

Our aim 

2.29 	 The Authority works to raise standards and encourage improvements in the 
registration and regulation of people who work in health and social care. We do 
this in order to promote the health, safety and well-being of patients, service 
users and other members of the public. 

Strategic objectives 

2.30 	 The Authority’s strategic objectives, which were agreed by the Board in 
September 2014, are set out below. 

2.31 	 The Authority will work to: 

Reconfigure our processes for the oversight of the statutory regulators to 
ensure that they are risk-based, targeted, right-touch and continue to 
focus on outcomes for public protection 

Ensure we have the research and policies in place to maintain our 
thought leadership now and in the next phase of regulatory reform 

Deepen our understanding of good regulation through international 
knowledge exchange, bringing benefits to the UK 

Establish the value that Accredited Registers add to consumer protection 
and the public interest and make the model sustainable 

Deliver effective financial management to inspire confidence internally 
and externally in our new funding arrangements 

4 
Professional Standards Authority. 2010. Right-touch regulation. Available at http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/policy-and-

research/right-touch-regulation
5 

Organisational excellence is defined as the consistent performance of good practice combined with continuous improvement. 
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To deliver these strategic objectives, the Authority will work to maintain 
and develop a high performing staff team and Board properly recognised, 
valued and resourced. 

2.32 	 The Board, in recognition of the financial and operational changes the Authority 
would face post the implementation of the Fee Regulations and the particular 
need for clear separation of income and expenditure of the different workstreams, 
in addition to setting revised strategic objectives, set the following business 
principles for the Authority: 

	 All fees from the regulatory bodies will be applied only to our statutory 
functions of regulatory oversight and improvement as set out in the legislation 

	 Any surplus or deficit generated against our budget as approved by the Privy 
Council will be used in the calculation of the following year’s fee. While it 
would be our intention that any unused funds would be used to offset the 
following year’s requirements, the Authority is likely to be subject to 
Corporation Tax, and surplus income (including fees) may accordingly be 
subject to tax 

	 The pricing of commissions and consultancy contracts will cover all costs 
associated with the work. Any surplus arising will be deployed at the Board’s 
discretion to support our organisational objectives in the public interest  

	 All fees for accreditation or renewal from occupational registers will be 
applied only to provide and develop the accredited registers programme. Any 
surplus generated will be retained for the benefit of the programme 

	 To ensure transparency we will: 

	 Publish our annual accounts and fully disclose our audited financial 
statements 

	 Show clearly our income and expenditure in relation to each of the 
Authority’s four functions 

	 Publish an auditor’s statement setting out our compliance with these 
business principles. 

2.33 	 These will come into use once the Fee Regulations become fully operative. 

The year under review 

Volume of work 

2.34 	 We mentioned last year that we were seeing an increase in the number of fitness 
to practise cases received. The number has continued to increase during 
2014/2015. Likewise, the number of appeals lodged by the Authority, where we 
considered a decision to be unduly lenient, has continued to increase. Full details 
are given in the section detailing the work of our Scrutiny and Quality team. 

2.35 	 In May, following concerns raised with us by a whistle-blower about the 
management and support processes of the GDC’s Investigating Committee, we 
decided to carry out an investigation. This work, which was not anticipated, was 
undertaken by the Scrutiny and Quality team with the assistance of external legal 
advisers. 
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Collaboration 

2.36 	 Given our busy year, we have been very appreciative of the support and 
collaboration that we have received from the regulatory bodies. The GDC, the 
GPhC and the GOC have all permitted members of their staff to work with us in 
the development of policies and processes. 

Regulation of Health Professionals 

2.37 	 During the year, we contributed to the work undertaken by the Department of 
Health regarding the prospective implementation of legislation to enact the 
proposals made by the Law Commission following their review of the Regulation 
of Health Professionals. This legislation would bring the eight UK and Great 
Britain regulators we oversee under a single statute and, in doing so, amend 
certain aspects of the current legislation. For this, we attended regular meetings 
with the Department of Health and the regulators we oversee to discuss the 
department’s response to the Law Commissions’ Bill. We also took part in 
discussions – face-to-face and by email – with officials on specific areas of policy, 
mostly in relation to fitness to practise, to share our expertise in this area.  

Risk and uncertainty 

2.38 	 The uncertainty regarding the timing of changes to our funding arrangements and 
the impact this might have on our status and operations continued during 
2014/2015. We are pleased that with the enactment of The Professional 
Standards Authority for Health and Social Care (Fees) Regulations 2015 (the Fee 
Regulations) on 1 April 2015, we now know that fees will become payable from 1 
August 2015. 

2.39 	 In light of the enactment of the Fee Regulations, we have been working with the 
Department of Health to prepare a submission to the Office of National Statistics 
for the reclassification of the Authority, recognising its changing relationship to 
the Department and government. We anticipate that this submission will be made 
in December 2015 and that any change will be backdated to April 2015. 

2.40 	 We have continued to build on our previous work to segment our finances and 
operations. 

2.41 	 We approached the Department of Health to request additional financial support 
for the Accredited Registers programme and were pleased that it was provided. 

2.42 	 Several legislative changes that were proposed during 2014/2015 have caused 
concern and proved challenging. 

	 The General Medical Council (Fitness to Practise and Over-arching 
Objective) and the Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social 
Care (References to Court) Order 2015 gave the GMC powers to appeal 
decisions by the Medical Practitioners Tribunal Service (MPTS). The 
Authority will need to have in place a new process for scrutinising and 
referring MPTS decisions to the courts. This will be different from our usual 
process for scrutinising and referring the final decisions of the other 
regulators 

	 The Order also changes our grounds for appealing final panel decisions 
made by all nine regulators, and the GMC’s objective would be amended to 

8 



 

   

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

  
  

  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

match these grounds. This change to our grounds for referral would almost 
certainly result in additional costs for all parties, the Authority included, while 
its impact is tested in the courts. 

	 The Health and Social Care (Safety and Quality) Act 2015 will change the 
Authority’s and the non-medical regulators’ over-arching objectives, bringing 
them in line with the proposed new GMC objective. At the time of writing, it is 
unclear when the change will be brought about and what impact it will have 
on the Authority’s work. 

2.43 	 We also worked with the Department of Health and the Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills to exclude the Authority from the economic growth duty in 
the Deregulation Bill, on the grounds that it would be disproportionate and 
ineffective in relation to our work. 

Key performance indicators 

2.44 	 In our annual business plan, we set out key performance indicators (KPIs) for our 
work. Our performance against them is discussed regularly with our sponsor unit 
at the Department of Health. 

2.45 	 Our performance against the KPIs during 2014/2015 is set out below: 

Workstream KPI Performance 
Section 29 decisions All (100%) relevant decisions to be 

considered within statutory deadlines 
100% 

Complaints about 
regulatory bodies 

All (100%) complaints acknowledged  
within five working days 

100% 

DPA and FOI 
enquiries 

All (100%) FOIA and DPA requests 
dealt with within statutory deadlines 

100% 

Finance To pay undisputed invoices: 

60% in five days. 

100% in 10 days. 

53% by value 
59% by volume 

in 5 days 
100% in 10 days 

HR Sickness no more than 2.5%. 

Staff turnover less than 10%. 

Sickness: 1.5% 

19% for 
permanent staff 

Complaints about the 
Authority 

100% of complaints acknowledged 
in five days 
100% of complaints to be completed 
within 28 days 

100% 

100% 

Accredited registers Within 15 working days from 
confirmation of the payment to the 
Authority, applications will have 
completed the initial documentary 
review. 

Applications will be put before the 
Panel within 21 days of receipt of all 
information/documentation required. 

75% 
3 of 4 new 

applications 

100% 
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Employees 

2.46 	 The Authority is committed to enabling all employees to achieve their full 
potential in an environment characterised by dignity and mutual respect. Our 
employment policies seek to create a workplace in which all employees can give 
their best, and can contribute to the Authority’s and their own success.  

2.47 	 We retain the services of Right Corecare and our staff have access to assistance 
and counselling if required. Details of our staff sickness rates can be found in the 
Remuneration Report. 

2.48 	 The Authority recognises the business benefits of having a diverse workforce and 
is committed to maintaining a culture in which diversity and equality are actively 
promoted and where discrimination is not tolerated. We operate a fair and open 
selection policy relating to applications for employment and internal promotion. 

2.49 	 In 2014/2015, 75 per cent of our senior management team was female, while 
overall, 74 per cent of the workforce was female. Further information about the 
senior management team can be found in the Remuneration section of this report 
and in the notes to the accounts. 

2.50 	 Our staff turnover during the year has significantly increased and is a cause for 
concern given the loss of expertise, knowledge and skills. Of equal concern is the 
difficulty in recruiting new staff in a competitive market where many other 
employers are free to determine their own salary scales. 

2.51 	 We encourage our staff to work with charities and other community 
organisations. Members of staff are currently involved with National Voices, 
Comic Relief and Research Ethics. 

Sustainability 

2.52 	 Due to our size, the Authority is not required to provide a sustainability report. We 
do seek to minimise the impact of our activities on the environment. 

2.53 	 Our office was refurbished, before we became tenants, in accordance with the 
BREEAM environmental assessment standard, which looks at heating, lighting, 
recycling and other matters, and has an ‘excellent’ rating. The Authority occupies 
2.58 per cent of the building, part of which is occupied by the Authority’s tenants. 

2.54 	 Rainwater is collected and used to supply the sanitary facilities, reducing our 
clean water consumption. 

2.55 	 Our offices have facilities to separate waste for recycling, and to encourage staff 
to do this, no waste is collected from bins at desks. Waste is separated into 
glass, recyclable, non-recyclable and food waste. A contractor separates the 
mixed recyclables. No waste goes to landfill. Waste that cannot be recycled is 
incinerated. For the Authority, based on 2.58 per cent of the building total, 0.10 
tonnes were incinerated and 3.2 tonnes were recycled. Food waste is used to 
produce compost for the landscaped areas around the building. The cost of all 
waste disposal is included in our building service charges. 

2.56 	 Our gas and water consumption is calculated as 2.58 per cent of the total. Our 
electricity is separately monitored and the consumption for the space rented from 
the landlord is known. This does not, however, include the consumption by the 

10 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

f

f

AAuthority’ss tenants. OOur consummption for 2014/20155 and the pprevious yeear is set 
oout below. 

20114/2015 2013/22014 
Gas 4,9932kWh 4,982kkWh 
Electricityy 69,7739kWh 72,406kkWh 
Water 145.30m3 162.662m3 

Waste remmoved 3.44 tonnes 3.17 tonnnes 

2.57 	 TThe installation of waaste compaactors hass reduced the frequenncy of colleections 
ffrom daily to fortnightly, reducinng vehicle emissions. 

2.58 	 WWe seek too minimisee the impacct of our owwn activitiees on the eenvironmennt. When 
eequipmentt is purchassed, considderation iss given to eenergy connsumption and so 
oon. We usee recycled materials where succh alternatiives are avvailable annd provide 
vvalue for mmoney. 

2.59 	 WWe continuue seek to reduce thee use of paaper by maaximising tthe use of our 
iintranet annd website for the dissseminationn of informmation. We are also using 
eelectronic vversions oof meeting papers whhere technically practtical. Wherre paper is 
uused, we loook to reduuce its connsumption through the active mmanagemennt of 
pprinters reqquiring douuble-sided printing. 

2.60 	 WWe use ‘offf-white reccycled papper’ for our day-to-dayy needs. WWe used 777 cases of 
ppaper in 20014/2015 ((142 casess in 2013/22014). 

2.61 	 WWhen travel is necesssary, we uuse public transport aas much ass possible and have 
iincreased our use of telephonee and videoo conferencing to avooid the neeed to 
ttravel. Wheen possiblee, journeyss within thee UK and EEurope aree made by train. 

2.62 	 WWe have ccontinued tto collect eenvironmenntal informaation regarrding journneys made 
bby Board aand staff mmembers. 

Mode of travel 20014/2015 20113/2014 

CO2/kg 

Total 

C 

Average per 
eq 

CO2/kg 

r full-time 
uivalent* 

CCO2/kg 

Total 

C 

Average per f 
equ 

O2/kg 

ull-time 
ivalent* 

Air* 8,601 268 111,078 320 

Rail 738 23 760 22 
** This informatioon only relates tto flights bookedd through our ceentral supplier. Some internatioonal flights bookked separately, 
ooften by commisssioning organissations, are nott included. 

AApproved by the Boaard. 

HHarry Caytton 
AAccountingg Officer 

55 June 20115 
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3. 	 Chief Executive's report 
Introduction 

3.1 	 As this report shows, the Authority has continued to focus on public protection, 
the improvement of professional regulation and the effective delivery of all our 
statutory functions. 

3.2 	 We conducted our annual performance review of all the regulators between 
September 2014 and May 2015 and this is described in detail in Volume II of this 
report. We have also continued with our risk-based cycle of audits of the initial 
stages of fitness to practise decisions. 

3.3 	 In the past year, our workload from reviewing all final fitness to practise decisions 
by the regulators has continued to grow and the proportion of cases we appeal, 
although very small, has also continued to grow. 

3.4 	 The Accredited Registers programme, although still relatively new, is now fully 
integrated into our work plans, governance and financial management. With 18 
registers accredited covering some 65,000 professionals, it is making a valuable 
contribution to choice and quality in health and care.  

3.5 	 Our policy work and our research programme have continued to grow in 
influence.  

3.6 	 In the last year, we have, in response to a commission from the Department of 
Health, provided advice on the Duty of Candour. We also looked in detail at 
issues around social work, a relatively new area of responsibility for us. In 
research, we are examining how we can make the most effective use of the data 
we ourselves hold on professional performance. Our annual research conference 
was well attended and widely praised. 

3.7 	 Our international reputation, as demonstrated by the large number of requests for 
help and advice we receive, is significant. We have been pleased to continue our 
relationship with regulatory bodies in New Zealand, Canada and Ireland. We 
have advised colleagues in Hong Kong on the establishment of accredited 
registers there. We were pleased to win a contract from the Australian Council of 
Health Ministers to advise on the efficiency and cost effectiveness of health 
professional regulation in Australia as part of their review of the National 
Accreditation and Registration Scheme. 

3.8 	 We are committed to best practice in governance and operations and financial 
management. We have spent particular time and effort in preparing for our new 
financial arrangements as set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the 
consequent Fee Regulations. The new arrangements have required a significant 
shift in our budgeting and accounting practices and have caused us to think 
carefully about new risks and new assurances. The Board has been particularly 
mindful of these matters while, at the same time, maintaining the high productivity 
and quality of our activities. 

Reappointments 

3.9 	 Public appointments are generally made for an initial term of four years, which 
can be extended for a second term. The total time served should not exceed 
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eight years. When CHRE was established, the Council members were appointed 
for varying initial terms in order to facilitate future continuity. 

3.10 	 The 2012 Act made changes to the governance of the Authority, including 
changes to the arrangements for appointments to the Board of the Authority.  

3.11 	 At the end of 2014, two Board members, Ann Curno and Sally Irvine, stood down 
at the end of their terms of office. Following a recruitment process using our 
Appointment Principles, the Privy Council appointed Renata Drinkwater and 
Antony Townsend as new members of the Board, each for a four-year term. 
Andrew Hind was also reappointed as Audit Committee Chair for a further two 
years. 

3.12 	 Details of the directorships and significant interests held by the board are 
contained within the register of interests held on our website.6 

Oversight of the regulators 

Scrutiny and quality 

3.13 	 This work supports our first strategic objective:  

1. Reconfigure our processes for the oversight of the statutory 
regulators to ensure that they are risk-based, targeted, right-touch and 
continue to focus on outcomes for public protection 

3.14 	 This year, we have again seen a 13 per cent increase in the number of fitness to 
practise cases notified to us by the regulators, from 3,566 in 2013/2014 to 4,043 
in 2014/2015. This continues the trend of increases in the number of cases year-
on-year, which we noted in last year’s report. The majority of the cases (nearly 65 
per cent) relate to the NMC panel decisions. 

3.15 	 Of the 4,043 cases we received in 2014/2015, 2,918 were closed with no 
requirement for more information. We identified learning points as feedback for 
the regulators in 833 cases. By comparison, in 2013/2014, we identified learning 
points in 632 cases. 

3.16 	 We have a range of powers to scrutinise the regulators to ensure that patient 
safety and public protection are central to their work. Under Section 29 of the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002, we can 
refer final fitness to practise decisions made by the nine regulatory bodies to 
court (a referral by us is treated as an appeal). We do this if we consider that a 
decision is unduly lenient (within the meaning of that phrase, as set out in case 
law) and that a referral is desirable for public protection. We have continued to 
use these important powers where necessary for the protection of the public.  

3.17 	 During 2014/2015, we considered 49 cases at formal Section 29 case meetings, 
compared to 29 cases during 2013/2014. We referred 21 cases to court; in 
2013/2014, we referred 12 cases to court. In 26 of the cases considered at formal 
Section 29 case meetings, we did not make a referral to court and instead fed 
back learning points to the regulators. In the remaining two cases, we took no 
further action. 

6 http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/default-source/board-related-documents/board-register-
of-interests-2014.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
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Table 2 Number of fitness to practise cases reviewed annually 
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3.18 	 While the number of fitness to practise cases being managed by the regulators 
has continued to rise (see table 2), there continues to be only a small number of 
cases where the criteria for a court referral are met (see table 3). However, it is 
worthy of note that we have referred to court 1 in 200 cases during 2014/2015, 
compared to 1 in 300 cases during 2013/2014. Most of the appeals related to the 
NMC decisions (14 out of 21) and we did not lodge any appeals in respect of 
decisions made by the GCC, the GOsC, the GOC, the PSNI or the GDC during 
2014/2015. Sixty-five per cent of the decisions we considered related to the NMC 
and this is reflected in the referral rate. 

3.19 	 Examples of three cases that we referred to court during 2014/2015 are set out 
on pages 16 to 21. 

3.20 	 During 2014/2015, we audited the handling of cases closed at the initial stages of 
the fitness to practise process by the following regulators: the GOsC, the GCC, 
the PSNI, the GDC and the NMC. The reports of our audit findings in relation to 
the GOsC, the GCC, the PSNI and the GDC are available on our website. Our 
NMC audit report will become available on our website once it has been 
published. 
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Table 3 Cases referred to court 
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3.21 	 Further information regarding fitness to practise cases can be found in Volume ll 
of this report. 

Performance review 

3.22 	 The Authority is required to report annually on how the regulators are fulfilling 
their statutory duties and protecting the public. We do this by assessing their 
performance against a set of agreed standards. The performance review this 
year took place between September 2014 and May 2015. Full details and a 
comprehensive report are in Volume II of this Report. 

3.23 	 In the summer of 2014, the Authority embarked on a full-scale re-examination of 
the performance review process. Our aim was to make it more focused on areas 
of risk, change or improvement, and to better anticipate issues that may arise. 
We have been greatly helped by the active collaboration of the regulators in this 
revision and we will shortly consult on the new arrangements, which we plan to 
bring into operation in the autumn of 2015. 
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Case study 1: Responsibility of the nurse to take appropriate action in 
response to an unexpected death 

The Authority referred this decision of the NMC’s Conduct and Competence 
Committee (CCC) to the High Court in January 2015.  

As a result of our appeal, the case was sent back to the CCC so that it could be 
decided again, based on a full consideration of all the relevant evidence and all 
the appropriate allegations. The CCC at the original hearing had not been 
provided with all the relevant evidence and some important aspects of the case 
had not been included as allegations. 

The case concerned an NMC registrant working at a nursing and residential 
home who did not attempt resuscitation (CPR), did not dial 999 and did not 
complete an incident form or document the incident, in respect of a patient who 
had been found unresponsive by a health and care assistant.  

The Authority identified a number of concerns about the NMC’s approach to 
investigating and presenting this case to the CCC, including the fact that the 
NMC did not call any of the health and care assistants who had been on duty 
during the relevant shift to give oral evidence at the hearing (instead, the NMC 
attempted to rely on the hearsay evidence contained in their unsigned, written 
statements). The NMC also failed to provide the CCC with a copy of the home’s 
written policy on how staff should respond to an unexpected death.  

Once it had heard the NMC’s evidence, the CCC concluded that it was 
insufficient to demonstrate that the observations made by the registrant were 
inadequate or that the registrant should have commenced CPR or that the 
registrant should have dialled 999. The CCC concluded that the registrant had 
undertaken some clinical observations, which had led her to make a professional 
judgment not to start CPR. The CCC decided that only the failure to complete an 
incident form or to document the incident amounted to misconduct. The CCC 
imposed a two-month suspension on the registrant. 

The Authority referred the CCC’s decision to the High Court on grounds that 
there had been several serious procedural irregularities in the preparation of the 
case by the NMC and in the consideration of the case by the CCC. The grounds 
were that: 

 The NMC had not alleged that the registrant had failed to carry out an 
adequate assessment of the patient’s condition before deciding not to 
attempt CPR 

 The NMC had failed to put before the CCC sufficient evidence of the written 
policy of the care home, which set out how members of staff were to respond 
in these situations, and/or sufficient evidence that the patient’s condition 
required the registrant to begin resuscitation and that the emergency services 
should have been called by the registrant 
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 Had the allegations adequately reflected the failures in the registrant’s 
response to the death of the patient, the CCC would have made a finding of 
misconduct in relation to those failures 

 The failures in the registrant’s response to the death of the patient remain 
unaddressed in light of the limited basis for the CCC’s finding of misconduct 
– and that leaves patients and the wider public interest at risk. 

The NMC conceded all of the Authority’s grounds of appeal. The registrant did 
not engage with the Authority or the High Court.   

The High Court upheld the Authority’s appeal, quashed the decision of the CCC 
and remitted the matter to a differently constituted panel of the CCC for a 
complete rehearing of the case. The High Court also directed that for the 
rehearing, the NMC: 

 Must include allegations that the registrant had failed to carry out a proper 
assessment of the patient’s condition before deciding not to attempt CPR 
and/or deciding not to call the emergency services 

 Must include a copy of the written policy of the care home setting out how 
members of staff are to respond to an unexpected death 

 Must use its best endeavours to obtain signed witness statements and to call 
oral evidence from the health and care assistants (or if that evidence cannot 
be obtained, the NMC must place the available written evidence before the 
CCC in support of the first two allegations). 

In order to avoid the potential risk of harm that was created by the High Court’s 
quashing of the suspension order (which left the registrant free to practise 
unrestricted, pending the outcome of the remitted CCC hearing), the High Court 
also imposed an injunction (under Section 37 of the Senior Courts Act 1981) to 
prevent the registrant from practising before the case has concluded.   

 

Case study 2: The significance of dishonesty for a health and care 
professional 

The Authority referred this decision of the HCPC’s CCC to the High Court in June 
2014. 

The HCPC registrant, a biomedical scientist, had been convicted in the criminal 
courts (having pleaded guilty) of dishonestly making false representations for 
personal gain (he had forged a Master of Science (MSc) certificate in order to get 
a job that he was not qualified for). He was sentenced to 6 months’ 
imprisonment, suspended for 12 months, as well as being required to undertake 
200 hours of unpaid work. 

The HCPC asked the CCC to decide whether or not the registrant’s fitness to 
practise was impaired on the basis of his criminal conviction. The Authority’s 
concern was that both the HCPC, in presenting the case, and the CCC, in 
deciding it, had failed to properly take into account the aggravating factors set out 
below. 
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The registrant applied for an “acting up” post with his current employer (“the 
Trust”). That post required the individual holding it to have an MSc qualification 
(which the registrant knew he did not have). The registrant applied for the job 
nevertheless, and was invited for an interview, which took place on 21 April 2011, 
at which he was reminded that he would need to show his MSc certificate. He 
was offered the post, subject to bringing in his original MSc certificate. 

The registrant’s dishonest acts (which covered a period of months) began on the 
day of the interview, before his submission of the forged MSc certificate to his 
employer: 

 When asked for the MSc certificate, the registrant told his employer that he 
had not brought it with him and gave a dishonest account of how he had 
completed his MSc at Lancaster University (‘University’) 

 The registrant lied to a junior colleague in the workplace, AM, so that he 
could obtain a copy of AM’s MSc certificate (which he then used) as well as 
his date of birth. 

 The registrant made up an email address in order to contact the University 
that had issued AM’s MSc certificate (pretending to be AM) 

 The registrant emailed the University pretending to be AM and lied about 
changing his faith and his name in an effort to support his attempts to obtain 
an original MSc certificate 

 After submitting the MSc certificate to his employer in support of his job 
application: 

 The registrant also lied to outside organisations including the University and 
the police 

 He attempted a cover up by making a dishonest report to the police about a 
“Mr K” who he said had provided the certificate to him 

 The registrant sustained his lies during two investigatory interviews with the 
Trust 

 He only admitted to his employer that he had forged the MSc certificate after 
the criminal court case had taken place 

 The registrant’s lies were sophisticated and calculated and made both in 
writing and verbally. They involved the adoption of a false persona.   

At the CCC hearing in January 2014, the CCC decided that the registrant’s 
fitness to practise was not impaired as a result of his criminal conviction.  

The Authority referred this case to the High Court on grounds that included: 

 The CCC’s decision and/or the charge did not reflect the full nature and 
extent of the registrant’s misconduct  

 The CCC’s decision that the registrant’s fitness to practise was not impaired 
was inconsistent with the seriousness of its finding that he had been 
dishonest 

 The CCC had failed to give adequate weight to the registrant’s lack of insight  
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 The CCC had erred in placing undue weight on the criminal court’s sentence 
and/or failed to distinguish between the purpose of a criminal sentence and 
the purpose of a regulatory sanction. 

The HCPC and the registrant defended this appeal. The High Court upheld the 
Authority’s appeal. The High Court decided that the CCC’s decision was not one 
that the CCC could have reasonably imposed. The High Court said that: 

 The registrant had breached a fundamental tenet, honesty, which lies at the 
heart of professionalism and is essential to the public’s trust in all health and 
care professions 

 His dishonesty gave rise to real public health risks 

 A finding of impairment of the registrant’s fitness to practise was required in 
order to mark the professional unacceptability of such dishonesty, based on 
his provision of a forged MSc certificate to his employer alone  

 The registrant’s creation of a web of dishonesty, with different lies being told 
to different people at different times on different subject matters, made his 
misconduct even more serious and that demanded a finding of impairment of 
his fitness to practise. 

The High Court substituted a decision of impairment for the registrant’s fitness to 
practise, as well as ordering that he be suspended from practising for a period of 
six months. This suspension would be reviewed by the CCC before it expired, in 
order to establish whether or not the registrant’s fitness to practise remained 
impaired. 

Case study 3: The effect of allegations as inadequate to reflect the gravity 
of the registrant’s misconduct 

The Authority referred this decision of the NMC’s CCC to the High Court in June 
2014. 

As a result of our appeal, the case was sent back to the CCC for it to decide 
again, based on considering the motivation behind the registrant’s actions in 
addition to considering the actions themselves.  

The allegation considered by the CCC at the hearing was that following an 
incident between another nurse (Charge Nurse X) and Patient A in April 2011, 
the registrant had failed to complete a serious incident report in relation to an 
allegation that Patient A had assaulted Charge Nurse X and that he also failed to 
immediately report that he had witnessed Charge Nurse X acting inappropriately, 
including inappropriate physical restraint towards Patient A.  

The registrant admitted the allegations and said that he did not report the incident 
immediately ‘because it was witnessed by around five other staff, none of whom 
were willing to say that they had witnessed an assault…he therefore doubted and 
was uncertain about what he had seen…seeing a staff member assault a patient 
was an extraordinary and bizarre occurrence, which left him feeling confused and 
shocked’. 
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The CCC concluded that the registrant’s fitness to practise was impaired and that 
conditions of practice were the appropriate sanction, as they could be formulated 
to address the issues identified in the registrant’s practice. The CCC also stated 
that there was no evidence of the registrant being generally incompetent or any 
evidence of attitudinal problems. The CCC rejected imposing a more severe 
sanction (a suspension order) on the basis that suspending the registrant would 
not address the concerns identified in the registrant’s practice, or allow him the 
opportunity to improve his knowledge and understanding so that he could safely 
return to unrestricted practice. 

The Authority referred this case to the High Court on the grounds that included: 
 A serious procedural irregularity – the allegations considered by the CCC did 

not sufficiently reflect the seriousness of the registrant’s misconduct  

 Alternatively, the sanction imposed was unduly lenient  

 The CCC had given inadequate reasons for its decision to impose conditions 
of practice instead of suspension or striking off.  

The evidence available to the NMC about the incident was: 

 Charge Nurse X alleged that she had been assaulted by Patient A and 
reported this assault to the police (April 2011) 

 The registrant, who had witnessed the incident, provided a brief factual report 
in which he did not raise any concerns about the incident and made no other 
comments (orally or in writing) about what he had witnessed (April 2011) 

 The registrant’s employer began a fact-finding process (led by the acting 
ward manager, S), which involved speaking to staff who had witnessed the 
incident. Again, the registrant did not raise any concerns at this time. 

 Once the matter was referred to the police (on the basis that Patient A had 
assaulted Charge Nurse X), the police contacted those who had witnessed 
the incident in order to obtain witness statements 

 It was only when the police contacted the registrant in August 2011 that the 
registrant sent an email to S in which he asked for his name to be removed 
from the witness list as ‘the statement that I give would not help [Charge 
Nurse X’s] case as I did have concerns for the events of the shift/period on 
question…I feel that I should be supportive to team members, and support 
their case. Please could you advise the most appropriate course of action. 
Thanks’ 

 S responded to the registrant’s email by suggesting they discuss his 
concerns. On the same day, the registrant told his supervisor that he had 
concerns about what he had witnessed in April but was unsure of how to 
proceed; he reported that he had seen Charge Nurse X standing on a sofa, 
jumping onto the back of Patient A and holding her in a headlock; he also 
stated that Charge Nurse X had been verbally abusive to Patient A 

 S did not hear anything more from the registrant and so she escalated her 
concerns as well as sending another email to the registrant advising him that 
if he had concerns about the incident on 22 April, it was his duty to inform her 
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 During a disciplinary investigation in January 2012, the registrant confirmed 
that he had seen Charge Nurse X standing on a sofa, getting on to Patient 
A’s back and holding her in a headlock and that prior to this, Charge Nurse X 
had been making threats to the patient 

 When asked why he did not immediately escalate his concerns, he said that 
he was waiting for people to come to him, that he had reported the matter to 
his supervisor and that initially his interest was to protect Charge Nurse X. 

The NMC and the registrant opposed the Authority’s appeal. The High Court 
upheld the appeal, quashed the CCC’s decision and remitted the case back to 
the CCC with a direction to the NMC to include an allegation about the motivation 
behind the registrant’s actions. 

The High Court held that while it may not have been necessary to include an 
allegation of dishonesty, there was ample evidence to justify an allegation that 
the registrant had deliberately failed to report the incident in order to protect 
Charge Nurse X and, in doing so, put Charge Nurse X’s interests ahead of those 
of Patient A. 

The High Court said ‘…the root cause of the problem lies in the failure by the 
NMC to adequately reflect the seriousness of the registrant’s conduct in the 
charges…This is therefore a case of undercharging, not because the NMC 
should have alleged dishonesty, but because in these particular circumstances, 
the reasons why there was a failure by the registrant to report the incident for five 
months matter a great deal in evaluating:  

(a) the true seriousness of the registrant’s behaviour and  
(b) what the appropriate sanction should be – including making a decision as to 
whether this is really a problem that can be rectified by further education, or 
whether there is a deep-seated attitudinal problem, and therefore whether the 
public interest would demand a period of suspension.’ 

Due to the serious procedural irregularity that had occurred in the proceedings 
before the CCC, the High Court said that it was impossible to evaluate whether 
the sanction of a conditions of practice order was unduly lenient, and noted that 
there was a real possibility that a more serious sanction would have been 
imposed if all relevant factors had been taken into account.    

 

Scrutiny of regulators’ council appointments processes 

3.24 	 The Authority assists the Privy Council with appointments to the regulatory 
councils (excluding the PSNI). 

3.25 	 The aspects of the Authority’s assistance that are not specified in the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 are the subject of a memorandum of understanding 
concluded between the Privy Council and the Authority in February 2013. The 
Authority provides advice to the Privy Council in relation to all open competitions 
for appointments and reappointments processes and, if the Privy Council 
requests it, in relation to any other aspect of the Privy Council’s appointment 
function. We have published two documents detailing our approach, describing 
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the scrutiny process we use, and providing good practice guidance on making 
council appointments. 

3.26 	 In 2014/2015, we provided advice to the Privy Council in relation to 12 processes 
run by six regulators. Eight of these processes related to appointments via open 
competition, covering 14 vacancies including two Chair roles. Four of these 
processes related to reappointments, covering six vacancies. We advised the 
Privy Council that it could have confidence in all of these processes. 

3.27 	 In the course of our scrutiny, we have identified areas for improvement as well as 
instances of good practice. We have shared these with the individual regulators 
throughout the year and will also share the learning with eight of the regulators at 
a future seminar. We have also issued revised guidance to the regulators to 
make it clear how we expect them to manage due diligence checks and any 
potential conflicts of interest that applicants or the selection panel members may 
have. 

Standards and policy 

3.28 	 This work supports our second and third strategic objectives:  

2. Ensure we have the research and policies in place to maintain our 
thought leadership now and in the next phase of regulatory reform 

3. Deepen our understanding of good regulation through international 
knowledge exchange, bringing benefits to the UK 

Policy and research projects 

3.29 	 In November 2014, we issued a Call for Views on Right-touch regulation. It is four 
years since we published our paper that sets out the approach we consider best 
practice in regulation. The paper has attracted considerable attention here and 
internationally. We are focusing on areas that require clarifying or amending and 
improving our understanding of key areas and concepts, such as risk and 
proportionality. This will enable us to gauge who Right-touch regulation has 
reached, how it has been interpreted and applied, and how it could be further 
developed and improved. 

3.30 	 During the year, we commissioned two pieces of research to help us understand 
more about public views regarding social workers and the main roles and issues 
within the profession. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 expanded our role to 
include overseeing the regulation of social workers in England. To help us fulfil 
this role, we commissioned the Social Care Workforce Research Unit at King’s 
College London to find out what the existing literature tells us about the roles 
carried out by social workers in England and to help us identify the main issues of 
relevance to regulating the profession. 

3.31 	 We also wanted to understand what research has already been done to explore 
what people who use social work services and other members of the public think 
about the conduct, competence and regulation of social workers in England. The 
University of East Anglia carried out this research for us. 

3.32 	 We carried out work to explore the potential for using information stored on our 
database in a preventative manner. We commissioned the University of Surrey to 
assess the usefulness of the data we hold on the nine regulators final fitness to 
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practise cases. We will be undertaking further work on this with the regulators in 
the next year. 

Consultations 

3.33 	 We responded to a larger than usual number of consultations, 24, including 
several Section 60 Orders, regulatory consultations in Scotland, Wales and: 

 The NMC’s proposals to introduce revalidation 

	 The Department of Health’s proposal to introduce a statutory duty of candour 
for health and care providers in England and the Scottish Government’s 
proposal for a similar duty in Scotland 

	 The Department of Health’s proposals to introduce a fit and proper person 
test for directors of health and care providers in England.  

	 Responded jointly with the health and care professional regulators to the 
Welsh Language Commissioner’s proposals for an enforcement policy for the 
Welsh Language Standards. 

3.34 	 We continue to encourage improvement in regulation through discussion, debate 
and encouraging research. We received positive feedback on our 2015 
Symposium on Understanding Complaints. Fifty-six people from 28 organisations 
attended the event. There were presentations from the GMC, the Authority, the 
Care Quality Commission, the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman, the 
Financial Ombudsman Service, the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets (ofgem), 
and iWantGreatCare. 

3.35 	 We have continued to build our links with the academic community and now have 
more than 80 on our list of academics from various disciplines interested in 
different aspects of regulation. We held our second academic conference this 
year in collaboration with Warwick Business School. Eighty-five people attended 
our ‘Assessing the impact of regulation’ conference from 20 academic 
institutions, 14 regulatory organisations, and 10 other types of organisations, 
including consultancies, government departments, the Council for Licensure, 
Enforcement and Regulation (CLEAR), and the Health Foundation.  

3.36 	 We are in the process of becoming a partner in the Centre for Values Based 
Practice at St Catherine’s College, Oxford. Two important pieces of research 
which encourage fresh thinking on the part of regulators have been reported: 
Preventing small problems becoming big problems in health and care by Zubin 
Austin and the Picker Institute, commissioned by HCPC; and Exploring and 
explaining the dynamics of osteopathic regulation, professionalism and 
compliance with standards in practice by Gerry McGivern et al. for the GOsC.  

3.37 	 We contributed to several conferences including the Policy Forum for Wales 
seminar on ‘Safe and compassionate health and social care in Wales’ and the 
Annual Scottish Regulation conference. We also spoke at international 
conferences including the CLEAR conference, held in the USA, and the 
International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities (IAMRA) conference. 

3.38 	 We were represented at several Department of Health working groups including 
the Safer Care Working Group, the Cavendish Governance Board, the Health 
and Social Care Strategy Workforce Forum and the Herbal Medicine Working 
Group. 
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3.39 	 We held two workshops with some members of our Public Stakeholder network 
to help us develop our approach to patient, service user and public engagement.    

3.40 	 To try to make it easier for people to understand the purpose of the regulators’ 
fitness to practise processes, we have published a statement explaining their 
purpose. We will use the statement in our work and communications and would 
welcome other people adopting it. 

Legislative reform 

3.41 	 A considerable amount of our time this year was spent responding to a number of 
proposals for legislative change.   

3.42 	 We wrote to the Department of Health to highlight how the Law Commissions’ 
draft bill could be amended to deliver improvements in the interests of good 
regulation. The Department sought our feedback on a number of occasions to 
inform their formal response to the Law Commissions’ recommendations – 
including on proposals to expand the regulatory bodies’ rule-making powers and 
proposals for disposal of cases and sanctions.  

3.43 	 In September, we responded to the Department of Health’s consultation on a 
Section 60 Order that would: 

	 Introduce a change to the Authority’s grounds for referral under Section 29 
and the GMC’s objective 

	 Give the GMC a right of appeal 

	 Establish the MPTS as a statutory committee of the GMC.  

3.44 	 We engaged in discussions with the Department about how the Authority would 
intervene in cases that the GMC has chosen to appeal, as it creates practical 
difficulties and may weaken public protection. We received assurances from the 
Department that it will be brought into force by means of a Commencement 
Order, and that this will only happen once these matters are addressed.   

3.45 	 We gave our views, in a very limited timeframe, on the changes to the wording of 
our objective proposed by the Health and Social Care (Safety and Quality) Bill 
(the Private Member’s Bill brought by Jeremy Lefroy MP with Government 
backing). The bill was passed in March 2015. We understand that the provision 
relating to us will be brought into force by means of a Commencement Order in 
tandem with the GMC Section 60 Order mentioned above. 

3.46 	 We have also discussed our concerns with the Department that the programme 
of legislative reform was not sufficiently focused on public protection, risked 
creating greater inconsistencies across the regulators and that the pace of reform 
allowed insufficient time for engagement.   

Advice to ministers 

3.47 	 In November, we responded to the Secretary of State for Health’s request for 
advice. The Authority was asked to work with the nine regulators we oversee to 
support progress in introducing a consistent approach to a professional duty of 
candour as outlined in Hard Truths (the Government’s response to the Francis 
Report), and to advise the Department of Health on that progress. We concluded 
that there had been good co-operation between the regulators, which 
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demonstrated their shared strong commitment to encouraging candour and the 
reporting of errors. They reached a near consensus on a common approach to 
candour and, in October, several regulators published a joint statement about the 
professional duty of candour. 

Accredited Registers Programme 

3.48 	 This work supports our fourth strategic objective:  

4. Establish the value that Accredited Registers add to consumer 
protection and the public interest and make the model sustainable 

3.49 	 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 has given the Authority the power to 
accredit registers that meet our standards in the interests of service users and 
the public. The Accredited Registers programme, launched in 2013, applies to 
the health and care sector in the UK. It was established to provide assurance that 
registers are well run and meet the Authority’s 11 standards, including: 

 Governance 

 Setting standards for registrants 

 Education and training 

 Managing the register 

 Complaints handling 

 Provision of information 

 Risk management. 

3.50 	 Being accredited means that an organisation has satisfied the Authority that it 
meets its high standards. It is a mark of quality. Accredited registers are entitled 
to use the Authority’s accreditation mark (shown below) so that they can be 
distinguished easily. 

3.51 	 The quality mark gives extra peace of mind for anyone looking for a practitioner, 
letting them know that anyone who holds the mark has committed to the high 
standards of personal behaviour, technical competence and business practice 
(where applicable) of the organisation holding an accredited register. 

3.52 	 We have so far accredited 18 registers, covering 25 occupations and 
approximately 65,000 practitioners. Accreditation is reviewed annually. All 
registers accredited in the first year of operation had their first annual review and 
have been successful. By the end of the financial year, two organisations were 
undergoing assessment for initial accreditation and four were going through their 
annual review. 
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3.53 	 The following registers have been accredited: 

 Academy for Healthcare Science 

 Alliance of Private Sector Practitioners 

 Association of Child Psychotherapists 

 Association of Christian Counsellors 

 British Acupuncture Council 

 British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy 

 British Association of Play Therapists  

 British Association of Sport Rehabilitators and Trainers  

 British Psychoanalytic Council 

 Complementary and Natural Healthcare Council  

 COSCA (Counselling and Psychotherapy in Scotland) 

 Federation of Holistic Therapists 

 National Counselling Society 

 National Hypnotherapy Society 

 Play Therapy UK 

 Society of Homeopaths 

 UK Council for Psychotherapy  


 UK Public Health Register 


3.54 	 To encourage learning and improvement, we held a seminar for accredited 
registers in October 2014. In addition, we ran four workshops (webinars) for 
organisations planning or preparing to apply for accreditation with us. As reported 
last year, we also held a conference in March 2014. 

3.55 	 In March 2015, we published our first report about the Accredited Registers 
Programme, describing the development and growth of the programme, the scale 
of improvement it has generated among registers and its benefit to the public. 
The report ‘Accredited Registers – Ensuring that health and care practitioners are 
competent and safe’ explains our approach to successfully implementing 
government policy, developing a unique alternative to assuring registration of 
health and care practitioners based on right-touch regulation principles. It 
demonstrates why it is valuable to have a means of assurance situated at the 
midpoint of the ‘continuum of assurance’. 

3.56 	 It is two years since we launched the programme and the report provides 
evidence of the scale of changes and improvements made by registers in order 
to meet our Accreditation Standards. It also demonstrates how accredited 
registers help to improve the health and well-being of patients and service users 
and contribute to the economy. With the kind permission of patients and service 
users, we included a range of stories about their experiences to illustrate the real 
benefits to their lives. 
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3.57 	 The report explains how accredited registers can help a range of stakeholders 
achieve major policy objectives, such as supporting public health goals, 
contributing to better education outcomes for children, improving end of life care, 
and supporting older people with maintaining their independence. It illustrates 
this workforce sector and shows, for the first time, the scale of this hidden 
workforce and their underused potential to make a real difference to people’s 
health and well-being. 

3.58 	 At the time of writing, we are arranging meetings with key stakeholders to discuss 
how accredited registers could support them in achieving their policy objectives 
as well as improve and raise standards of care. We were also organising a round 
table event with senior decision and policy makers to discuss the benefits offered 
by accredited registers. We will report on the outcome of these engagement 
activities in our next annual report.  

3.59 	 We received and considered 25 concerns and complaints about accredited 
registers under our ‘Raising a concern about an Accredited Register’ policy. 
Concerns were also raised through our call for information process open 
throughout an organisation’s accreditation life and were considered by the 
Accreditation Panel during annual reviews of accreditations.    

3.60 	 We commissioned an independent review of our Accreditation Standard 9 
(Education and Training). The outcome of the review was considered by our 
Board and accredited registers were consulted with. At the time of writing, we are 
preparing to issue a public consultation on the proposals for change.  

3.61 	 We delivered presentations about the programme at different events and met 
with several stakeholders during the year. We also responded to consultations 
relevant to the programme and to accredited registers.  

Advice provided to other organisations 

3.62 	 We submitted our evidence to the House of Commons Health Committee on the 
performance of the GMC, the NMC, and the GDC ahead of their accountability 
hearings. This is part of the committee’s arrangement to work more closely with 
the Authority, which was announced in its response to the Francis Report. We 
also submitted evidence to the House of Commons Public Administration Select 
Committee for its follow-up session on the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman’s Report into severe sepsis and midwifery supervision and 
regulation. 

3.63 	 During the year, we were contracted to carry out a cost effectiveness and 
efficiency review, as part of a wider review for the Australian government of their 
National Registration and Accreditation Scheme for registering and regulating 
health and care professionals. We worked in collaboration with the Centre for 
Health Services Economics and Organisation. We provided our report in October 
and it will be published in due course.   

3.64 	 The Chinese University of Hong Kong, on behalf of the Food and Health Bureau 
in Hong Kong, commissioned the Authority to provide consultancy on options for 
an assured voluntary registration system. Staff visited Hong Kong in September 
2014 to meet and share learning with several stakeholders, including 
professional associations, academics and government officials. 
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Governance and operations 

3.65 	 This work supports our fifth and sixth strategic objectives:  

5. Deliver effective financial management to inspire confidence 
internally and externally in our new funding arrangements 

6. To deliver these strategic objectives, the Authority will work to 
maintain and develop a high performing staff team and Board properly 
recognised, valued and resourced. 

Accounts and audit 

3.66 	 Our accounts have been prepared according to Determinations by the Secretary 
of State pursuant to Schedule 7, Paragraph 15 of the National Health Service 
Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002, as amended by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

3.67 	 Details about the NHS Pension Scheme and the treatment of pension liabilities in 
the accounts are set out in accounting policies within the notes to the accounts 
(note 1). 

3.68 	 Our external auditor is the Comptroller and Auditor General.  

3.69 	 Grant Thornton were contracted to undertake the internal audit function via the 
Regulators Hub Internal Audit framework arrangement. 

3.70 	 This report has been prepared in accordance with the 2014/2015 Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. 

3.71 	 So far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
auditors are unaware, and we have taken all the steps to make ourselves aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of 
that information. 

Sick absence 

3.72 	 A total of 130.5 days (2013/2014: 97 days) were lost due to sickness absence in 
the year. This equates to 3.2 days (2013/2014: 2.3 days) per person.  

Financial summary 

3.73 	 Grant-in-aid funding for 2014/2015 comprised £3.46 million (2013/2014: £2.8 
million) from the Department of Health and £0.30 million (2013/2014: £0.33 
million) from the devolved administrations. At 31 March 2015, we had reserves 
carried forward of £1.04 million (2013/2014: £0.80 million) after net operating 
costs of £3.46 million (2013/2014: £3.20 million). 

3.74 	 An analysis of accounting policies is shown in note 1 to the accounts. There have 
been no significant changes to these during the year. 

Transparency 

3.75 	 The Authority is committed to the provision of information to the public. 

3.76 	 Our creditor payment policy is maintained in accordance with the government’s 
Better Payment Policy, which currently provides for payment of suppliers within 
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ffive workinng days of receipt of iinvoice, exxcept in thee instance where there may be 
aa query or dispute reegarding ann invoice. 

3.77 	 TThis targett is challennging, espeecially for aa small orgganisation, and could only be 
aachieved iff we emplooyed more staff. Accoordingly, wwe aim to ppay 60 per cent of 
uundisputedd invoices within five days and 100 per ceent within 110 days. 

3.78 	 DDuring the 2014/2015 financial year, 100 per cent oof invoices were paid within 10 
ddays and 559 per cent (by numbber of invoiices) and 553 per centt (by total iinvoice 
vvalue) withhin five dayys. Details of our payyment recoord can be found on oour 
wwebsite.7 

3.79 	 NNo interest was paid under thee Late Paymment of Coommercial Debts (Inteerest) Act 
1998. 

3.80 	 TThe balancce owed too trade payyables as aat 31 March 2015 waas £57,000 
((2013/20144: £73,0000). As a prooportion off the total aamount invvoiced by ssuppliers 
iin the yearr, this is eqquivalent too 9.6 days (2013/2014: 15 dayss). 

3.81 	 OOther inforrmation thaat can be foound in thee governmment disclossure and 
ttransparenncy sectionns of our wwebsite incl ude: 

 Expenditure over £25,000 

 Board member eexpenses 

 Executtive team eexpenses 

 Hospittality 

 Staff ssalaries 


 Staff oorganogramm. 


Harry Caytton 

AAccountingg Officer 

55 June 20115 

7 
www.proofessionalstandaards.org.uk/abo ut-us/disclosuree-and-transpareency/governmennt-disclosure/payayment-statisticss 
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4. 	 Remuneration report 
4.1 	 Our pay policy incorporates a band structure within which staff can progress 

along incremental points within a given band alongside a performance appraisal 
process. No separate performance-related pay bonuses are paid. Progression 
through the pay band increments is subject to meeting certain performance 
standards as defined in the policy. 

4.2 	 In 2010/2011, the Authority was instructed by the Department of Health that as 
the annual increments were not contractual, the Cabinet Office guidelines 
prohibited us from paying them. Accordingly, 2014/2015 was the fifth consecutive 
year that the staff received no increments. 

4.3 	 Normal practice would be for the Remuneration Committee to consider an annual 
uplift to reflect a cost of living increase payable from April. In line with the pay 
guidance for government employees issued by the Cabinet Office in 2010, the 
uplift payable in 2014/2015 was centrally determined. 

4.4 	 Contracts are generally offered on a permanent basis. If they are offered on a 
fixed-term basis, this is to reflect the nature and context of the work involved. The 
notice period required is determined by the position of the post holder. We treat 
termination payments and provisions for compensation for termination on a case-
by-case basis in consultation with our advisers.  

Senior managers' contracts 

Name Title 
Date of 

contract 
Unexpired 

term 
Notice 
period 

Linda Allan 
Director of 
Governance 
and Operations 

15 March 2010 
Permanent 

contract 
3 months 

Christine 
Braithwaite  

Director of 
Standards and 
Policy 

17 May 2010 
Permanent 

contract 
3 months 

Harry Cayton Chief Executive 1 August 2007 
Permanent 

contract 
6 months 

Rosalyn 
Hayles 

Director of 
Scrutiny and 
Quality 

15 August 
2010 

Permanent 
contract 

3 months 

4.5 A register of senior managers’ interests is available on our website 
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Senior managers' salaries 

Name 
Salary 

2014/2015 
£’000 
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TOTAL 
2014/2015 

£’000 

Linda Allan 85–90 0 0 0 20–25 110–115 

Christine 
Braithwaite 

85–90 0 0 0 30–35 115–120 

Harry Cayton 140–145 0 0 0 15–20 160–165 

Rosalyn 
Hayles 

85–90 0 0 0 25–30 115–120 

Name 
Salary

2013/2014 
£’000 
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TOTAL 
2013/2014 

£’000 

Linda Allan 80–85 0 0 0 15–20 95–100 

Christine 
Braithwaite 

80–85 0 0 0 10–15 90–95 

Harry Cayton 140–145 0 0 0 25–30 165–170 

Rosalyn 
Hayles 

75–80 0 0 0 15–20 90–95 

This table has been audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General. 

4.6 	 All senior managers in the year were members of the NHS Pension Scheme. 

4.7 	 Total remuneration includes salary and all pension-related benefits calculated in 
accordance with the NHS Pensions guidance,8 which seeks to quantify the 
increase in pension benefits in the year by comparing the overall pension 
benefits at the beginning of the year with those at the end of the year. There were 
no non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind or severance 
payments in 2014/2015 or 2013/2014. 

4.8 	 The Authority is required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of 
the highest paid director (in our case, the Chief Executive) and the median 
remuneration of the Authority workforce.  

8 
Disclosure of Senior Managers’ Remuneration (Greenbury) 2015 
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4.9 	 The remuneration of the Chief Executive in the financial year 2014/2015 was 
£144,000. This was 3.51 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which 
was £41,000. 

4.10 	 The remuneration of the Chief Executive in the financial year 2013/2014 was 
£142,000. This was 3.47 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which 
was £41,000. 

4.11 	 No employee received remuneration in excess of the Chief Executive in 
2014/2015 or 2013/2014. Remuneration ranged from £20,000 to £144,000 
(2013/2014: £20,000 to £142,000).   

Pensions 
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Linda 
Allan 

Director of 
Governance 
and 
Operations 

0–2.5 N/A* 5–10 N/A* 86 120 33 

Christine 
Braithwaite 

Director of 
Standards and 
Policy 

0–2.5 5–7.5 10–15 40–45 259 314 52 

Harry  
Cayton  

Chief 
Executive 

0–2.5 0–2.5 20–25 20–25 409 456 43 

Rosalyn 
Hayles 

Director of 
Scrutiny and 
Quality 

0–2.5 N/A* 5–10 N/A* 44 67 22 

* Not applicable in the 2008 scheme  

This table has been audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General. 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme 
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the members’ accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a 
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in the former scheme. The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The CETV figure – and from 2005/2006, the other pension details – include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS Pension 
Scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. A CETV is calculated within 
the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
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Real increase/(decrease) in CETV 
This reflects the increase/(decrease) in CETV. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to 
inflation, contributions paid by the employer and employee (including the value of any benefits transferred 
from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of 
the period. 

4.12 	 No compensation has been paid to former senior managers, or payments made 
to third parties for the services of a senior manager.  

4.13 	 No senior manager had expenses subject to UK tax. 

Authority members’ remuneration 

4.14 	 Remuneration for the Chair and Board members is not subject to 
superannuation. 

4.15 	 The payments made to the Board are also subject to Cabinet Office guidance 
and have not increased since 2009/2010. The Chair receives remuneration of 
£33,688 pa (2013/2014: £33,688 pa); members receive annual remuneration of 
£7,881 (2013/2014: £7,881) and the Audit and Risk Committee Chair receives 
annual remuneration of £13,135 (2013/2014: £13,135). Members’ remuneration 
during the year amounted to £90,494 (2013/2014: £90,696) including social 
security costs. 

4.16 	Members’ remuneration is subject to tax and national insurance through PAYE. 

4.17 	 In addition, expenses amounting to £14,717 (2013/2014: £12,056) were 
reimbursed to Board members. Travel expenses related to travel to the 
Authority’s offices are subject to tax. 

4.18 	Members’ remuneration has been audited by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General 
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4.19 PPayments to individuual membeers are discclosed beloow. 

PPaymentss made to the Authoority’s Boaard membbers duringg 2014/2015 

2014/2015 
(bands of 

5 Salary 
f £5,000) 

2013/ 
(band 

/2014 Salar 
ds of £5,000 

ry 
0) 

CChair 
JJill Pitkeathleey 30–355 30–35 
MMembers 

AAnn Curno* 5–100 5–10 

RRenata Drinkkwater** 0–55 Not appliccable 

Iaan Hamer 5–100 5–10 
A 
(A 
C 

Andrew Hind 
Audit and Ri 

Chair) 
sk Committeee 10–155 10–15 

SSally Irvine* 5–100 5–10 

SStuart MacDoonnell 5–100 5–10 

JJayne Scott 5–100 5–10 

AAntony Townnsend** 0–55 Not appliccable 

* Up to 31 December 2014 

** From 1 Jannuary 2015 

HHarry Caytton 

AAccountingg Officer 

55 June 20115 
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5. 	 Statement of the Board's and the 
Accounting Officer's responsibilities 
The Board’s responsibilities 

5.1 	 Under the Cabinet Office’s Guidance on Codes of Best Practice for Board 
Members of Public Bodies, the Authority is responsible for ensuring propriety in 
its use of public funds and for the proper accounting of their use. Under Schedule 
7, Paragraph 16 (2) of the National Health Service Reform and Health Care 
Professions Act 2002, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008, the 
Authority is required to prepare a statement of accounts in respect of each 
financial year in the form and on the basis directed by the Secretary of State for 
the Department of Health, with the consent of HM Treasury. The accounts are to 
be prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the 
Authority’s state of affairs at the year end and of its income and expenditure, total 
changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

5.2 	 In preparing the accounts, the Authority is required to: 

 Observe the accounts direction issued by the Secretary of State, with the 
consent of HM Treasury, including the relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent 
basis 

	 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

	 State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements 

	 Prepare the statements on the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the Authority will continue in operation. 

The Accounting Officer’s responsibilities 

5.3 	 The Accounting Officer for the Department of Health has appointed the Chief 
Executive as the Authority’s Accounting Officer. His relevant responsibilities as 
the Accounting Officer, including his responsibility for the propriety and regularity 
of the public finances for which he is answerable and for the keeping of proper 
records, are set out in the Non-Departmental Public Bodies’ Accounting Officers’ 
Memorandum issued by HM Treasury and published in Managing Public Money. 
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6. 	 Governance statement 
The Authority's Board 

6.1 	 The Board of the Authority has corporate responsibility for ensuring that the 
Authority fulfils its statutory duties and for promoting the efficient, economic and 
effective use of its resources. 

6.2 	 The Authority’s Board comprises seven non-executive members and one 
executive member. All non-executive members of our Board have been 
appointed from the public so that we are completely independent of the health 
and social care professional regulators that we oversee.  

6.3 	 Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions 
Act 2002, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012, provides directions for the appointment of members to 
the Authority. Under the provisions of the 2012 Act, Board members from 
England are appointed by the Privy Council following a recruitment process 
conducted by the Authority. 

6.4 	 We have an executive team covering our three areas of work: scrutiny and 
quality; policy and standards; and our governance and operations. 

Board members 

Board member Appointed by 

Jill Pitkeathley (Chair) Privy Council 

Ann Curno* Secretary of State for England 

Renata Drinkwater** Privy Council 

Ian Hamer Welsh ministers 

Andrew Hind Secretary of State for England 

Sally Irvine* Secretary of State for England 

Stuart MacDonnell 
Department of Health, Social 
Services and Public Safety in 
Northern Ireland 

Jayne Scott Scottish ministers 

Antony Townsend** Privy Council 

Harry Cayton Authority’s Board 

* Up to 31 December 2014 
** From 1 January 2015 
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Chair of the Board 

6.5 	 The Chair is responsible to the Secretary of State for the Department of Health 
for England and to the devolved administrations. The Chair has a particular 
leadership responsibility on the following matters: 

	 Formulating the Authority’s strategy 

	 Ensuring that the Board, in reaching decisions, takes proper account of any 
relevant guidance provided by the ministers or the sponsor departments 

	 Promoting the efficient, economic, and effective use of resources, including 
staff 

	 Encouraging high standards of propriety 

	 Ensuring that the Board meets at regular intervals throughout the year and 
that the minutes of meetings accurately record the decisions made and, 
where appropriate, the views of individual members. 

Attendance at Board meetings held in public 

6.6 	 There were six Board meetings held in public between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 
2015. 

Council member 
Number of meetings 

attended 
Possible 

Jill Pitkeathley (Chair) 6 6 
Ann Curno* 4 4 
Renata Drinkwater** 2 2 
Ian Hamer 6 6 
Andrew Hind 6 6 
Sally Irvine* 4 4 
Stuart MacDonnell 5 6 
Jayne Scott 6 6 
Antony Townsend** 2 2 
Harry Cayton 6 6 

* Up to 31 December 2014
 
** From 1 January 2015
 

6.7 	 During the year under review, the Board was active in ensuring that the 
Authority’s existing statutory functions were maintained and that the risks the 
Authority was encountering were being addressed. It achieved this by effective 
use and monitoring of the risk register and by remaining vigilant about the quality 
of our outputs. 

6.8 	 During the year, the Board also developed an assurance framework to better 
track the confidence it can have in its management of risk and to retain its focus 
on achieving its strategic objectives. 

6.9 	 The Board is confident that it continues to receive appropriate, complete and 
relevant reports from the executive to ensure that it can fulfil its strategic role and 
can hold the executive to account. Quality assurance is provided by both the 
Scrutiny Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee, which report to the 
Board. The Board also reviews all key policy papers and reports to ensure they 
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meet the high standards it expects. The Board also receives finance reports and 
reviews the risk register twice a year. 

6.10 	 The Board plays an important role in establishing the strategic direction for the 
Authority and considers this and related issues at its annual planning day.  

6.11 	 The Board also reviews its own performance as part of its strategic planning. It 
discussed the way in which Board appraisals are undertaken and the Chairs of 
the Audit and Risk Committee and Scrutiny Committee now provide comment to 
the Chair before appraisals are held. The Board considers that it is functioning 
effectively. 

6.12 	 Maintaining the quality of our work is an important consideration for the Board. It 
reviews important publications and reports prior to publication and takes a close 
interest in research and policy development. 

6.13 	 The Board also reviews information it receives about the Authority’s performance 
from external parties including the statutory regulators, the accredited registers 
and the Departments of Health in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland. 

6.14 	 All members of the Board are appraised annually by the Chair and are able to 
comment on the performance of both the Chair and the Chief Executive. The 
Chair is appraised by a senior civil servant in the Department of Health. 

6.15 	 The detail of quality assurance is delegated to the Scrutiny Committee and to the 
Audit and Risk Committee. We report on their activities separately. The Terms of 
Reference for the two committees are reviewed annually. In 2015, the Scrutiny 
Committee’s Terms of Reference were revised to ensure it was able to give 
proper attention to the Accredited Registers programme. 

Committees and working groups of the Board 

Audit and Risk Committee 

6.16 	 The Authority established an Audit and Risk Committee to support it in its 
responsibilities for risk control and governance. The committee reviews the 
comprehensiveness of assurances in meeting the Board’s and Accounting 
Officer’s assurance needs and reviewing the reliability and integrity of these 
assurances. 

6.17 	 Four Audit and Risk Committee meetings were held between 1 April 2014 and 31 
March 2015. 

6.18 	 Members’ attendance at committee meetings during 2014/2015 was as follows: 

Committee member Number of meetings attended 

Andrew Hind (Chair) 3 

Stuart MacDonnell 3 

Jayne Scott 4 
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6.19 	 The minutes of meetings are formally reported to the Board, as is the 
committee’s opinion on the risk register and the changes made to it. 

6.20 	 The committee reviews its Terms of Reference and work programme annually 
and reports any changes that it proposes to the Board. Each year, it formally 
reports to the Board on: 

	 Its work during the previous financial year 

	 The assessment of information governance arrangements 

	 The internal audit reports submitted to it 

	 The views and opinions of the external auditors. 

6.21 	 The committee sets its own work programme for the coming year at its December 
meeting and this influences the work programme set for the internal audit.  

Regulators internal audit hub 

6.22 	 During 2013/2014, we were part of the Department of Health Internal Audit Hub. 
We were, however, conscious of the likely change to the Authority’s finances and 
status and that the Department of Health Hub would not be the best location for 
us. As of April 2014, we became a member of the Government Regulators 
Internal Audit Hub. The Authority was party to the tender for the Hub’s internal 
audit provision and the Hub’s internal auditors, Grant Thornton (GT), have been 
our internal auditors for 2014/2015. 

6.23 	 The internal audit work this year focused on: 

	 Income assurance and business development, in particular, the need to 
minimise cross-subsidy between the different workstreams 

	 IT resilience and the need to ensure that the IT provision was capable of 
supporting the business. 

Income assurance and development – Phase 1 Fees Internal Audit report 

6.24 	 The committee received a report on the review of the work being undertaken by 
the Authority to minimise ‘cross-subsidy’. The review, which included three 
information findings, concluded: 

There is a very good degree of knowledge and awareness of the financial 
and reputational impact of the proposed regime, and the need for the 
Authority to undertake the necessary steps in preparation for the fee regime 
‘going live’.… Following our discussions with management and our review 
of the relevant evidence, we have concluded that the key question around 
managing cross-subsidies is being adequately addressed. 

Income assurance and development – Phase 2 Accredited Registers Internal 
Audit report 

6.25 	 The committee received a report on the review of the effectiveness and efficiency 
of the delivery of the Accredited Registers programme, especially against the 
original plans drawn out for it, including an assessment of the financial viability of 
the programme. The review, which had two significant findings, concluded that:  

The financial results and projections for the AR programme confirmed that 
it is operating and being accounted for separately from other income 
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streams within the Authority, with standalone accounts providing clear 
visibility of performance...Management recognise the need for further 
work to establish how the effective management of the accreditation 
register work can be balanced with making it financially sustainable within 
an acceptable period. 

Risk register 

6.26 	 The Directors Group reviews the risk register quarterly. Every six months, the 
updated report is considered by the Audit and Risk Committee and thereafter by 
the Board. Risks are added, updated or deleted outside of this process when the 
need arises. 

6.27 	 During the year, the committee reviewed the risk register maintained by the 
executive. The main risks discussed, some of which are covered in detail in the 
strategic report, related to the timing of new funding arrangements, the increasing 
volume of work and the need to retain staff. 

Assurance framework 

6.28 	 The committee also considered how the Board members could be assured about 
the operation of the Authority and how this could be documented. In doing so, the 
committee sought to identify a format that was proportionate and informative.   

6.29 	 The document that was produced, the Assurance Framework, is intended to 
record and inform Board members of the evidence they can rely on to provide 
assurance to them in relation to the running of the Authority and the mitigation of 
risks. 

6.30 	 The document is linked to the risk register and is regularly updated. 

Scrutiny Committee 

6.31 	 The Scrutiny Committee reviews, monitors and reports on the operation of the 
Authority’s scrutiny and oversight of the nine health and care professional 
regulatory bodies and provides quality assurance of the Accredited Register 
programme. 

6.32 	 At its meeting in January 2015, the committee approved draft changes to its 
terms of reference to clarify its role in scrutinising the Authority’s Accredited 
Register programme. The amendments to the committee’s Terms of Reference 
were approved subsequently at a Board meeting. 

6.33 	 During 2014/2015, the format of the Scrutiny Committee’s meetings followed the 
model decided at its meeting in December 2013 (with updates on various areas 
of work being included as standing items on each agenda: the Authority’s 
scrutiny of the appointments processes used by eight of the regulators in respect 
to their Council members; the exercise by the Authority of its Section 29 right to 
refer ‘unduly lenient’ decisions made by the regulators’ fitness to practise panels 
to court; concerns about the regulators received by the Authority; audit and 
performance review; and the Accredited Registers programme). 

40 



 

   

 

 

  

 
 

 

6.34 	 There were three Scrutiny Committee meetings held between 1 April 2014 and 
31 March 2015. Dr Sally Irvine and Ann Curno attended their final committee 
meeting in October 2014, with new members joining the committee at its 2015 
meetings. Members’ attendance at each meeting is shown below. 

Committee member Number of meetings attended 

Sally Irvine (Chair)* 2 

Ann Curno* 2 

Ian Hamer (Chair)** 4 

Renata Drinkwater** 2 

Antony Townsend** 2 

* Up to 31 December 2014
 
** From 1 January 2015
 

Initial stages audits 

6.35 	 At all of the Scrutiny Committee’s meetings, the committee was updated on the 
progress of the audit reports from the 2014 audit cycle, with four of the five audit 
reports noted as having been published at the March 2015 meeting. 

Review of final fitness to practise decisions (the Authority’s Section 29 
jurisdiction) 

6.36 	 At its meetings in October 2014 and March 2015, the Scrutiny Committee 
reviewed decisions taken to refer to court/not to refer to court individual 
regulators’ fitness to practise panel decisions that had been taken at Section 29 
case meetings. At the October meeting, the committee reviewed a sample of 
these decisions taken between March and September 2014. At the March 
meeting, it reviewed a selection of these decisions taken in the period since the 
October meeting. 

6.37 	 During both of these meetings, the committee also reviewed a small sample of 
cases that had not been referred for consideration at Section 29 case meetings. 

6.38 	 At the January 2015 meeting, the new Board members were provided with an 
introduction to the various areas of work scrutinised by the committee, including 
the Authority’s Section 29 jurisdiction. The committee did not consider any 
Section 29 decisions at that meeting. 

Annual performance review of the regulators 

6.39 	 At the meeting in January 2015, the committee was updated on the Authority’s 
progress in developing a new model for consultation concerning the annual 
performance review of the regulators, following consideration of this at various 
Board meetings since mid-2013. 

Other work 

6.40 	 The committee has regularly reviewed the Authority’s handling of concerns about 
the regulators and has received regular updates on the progress of individual 
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Section 29 appeals. The committee was updated on the Authority’s scrutiny of 
the processes that the regulators use in the appointment of Council members. 

6.41 	 At its meeting in October 2014, the committee gave its views regarding 
recognition of specialist practice as opposed to the recognition of discrete 
occupations and what the role of the Authority should be if asked to approve new 
occupations to be added to accredited registers in the Authority’s Accredited 
Registers programme. In January 2015, the committee was informed of concerns 
regarding funding of the programme, with the Authority applying for a subvention 
from the Department of Health. It was explained that the Authority envisaged this 
may be required going forward, with a decision from the Department awaited. 

6.42 	 At the meeting in January 2015, the committee fed back comments about the 
committee’s Terms of Reference. The Chief Executive agreed that he would 
redraft the Terms of Reference to clarify the committee’s role in relation to the 
Accredited Registers programme and that this would then go to the Board 
meeting on 21 January 2015 for approval. 

6.43 	 The committee also indicated that it should be suggested to the Audit and Risk 
Committee that they should review the new performance review process in 2016. 

Accredited registers 

6.44 	 The Scrutiny Committee carried out its scrutiny of the Accredited Registers 
programme. It received progress updates on applications going through initial 
assessment and annual reviews of accreditation. It reviewed a sample of 
applications and scrutinised the assessment. 

6.45 	 It also provided advice on policy issues raised by a request from an accredited 
register for the Authority to consider the addition of two new occupations to their 
register. The issues included the role of the Authority in approving new 
occupations, the impact of its decision on registers’ growth and potential virtual 
protection of title. The committee was also kept informed about the rebranding of 
the programme and media coverage.  

Remuneration Committee 

Role 

6.46 	 The Remuneration Committee meets once a year, or more frequently if 
necessary, to agree the annual cost of living increase for staff and to deal with 
other remuneration issues if they arise. 

6.47 	 Since the organisation continued to be subject to the ongoing pay restrictions set 
by the Cabinet Office, the committee was not required to consider any pay award 
for the staff in 2013/2014. 

42 



 

   

 

 

6.48 One Remuneration Committee meeting was held between 1 April 2014 and 31 
March 2015. Members’ attendance is shown below. 

Committee member Number of meetings attended 

Jill Pitkeathley (Chair) 1 

Ian Hamer 1 

Andrew Hind 1 

Harry Cayton (in attendance) 1 

Linda Allan (in attendance) 1 

6.49 	 The committee authorised the introduction of retention payments in order to 
better secure the services of business critical post holders. 

6.50 	 The committee also authorised changes to the grading bands to facilitate the 
introduction of new posts. 

6.51 	 The Authority does not have a Nominations Committee. The Remuneration 
Committee would undertake this role should the need arise. 

Pension scheme regulations 

6.52 	 As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within 
the scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions and payments to the scheme are in 
accordance with the rules and that member pension scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations. 

6.53 	 The protection of data held by us and requests for its disclosure continue to be 
important considerations for us. 

6.54 	 As a small employer not within the NHS, the Authority did not have online access 
to the NHS Pension Authority (NHSPA). We submitted paper documentation to 
the NHSPA in order that they would update our staff records and other data. As a 
consequence of information given to former staff being inconsistent with that held 
by the Authority, we raised concerns with the NHSPA and they arranged for our 
records to be reviewed and updated. 

6.55 	 In order to avoid further concerns, despite the cost, we made arrangements to 
have online access so that the records, especially staff records, can be updated 
in real time. 

 Data handling 

6.56 	 Our system of internal control is based on the HMG Security Policy Framework 
and we continue to monitor and review our compliance with them. 

6.57 	 We hold very little personal information. The main data we hold relates to our 
own staff. Where we require access to personal data held by others, this is 
generally undertaken at the premises of the data holder. Staff undertaking audits 
as part of performance reviews are required to work through remote access to 
our server whenever possible. Since this is not always possible, the laptops used 
by the auditors have been encrypted to provide another layer of security. 
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6.58 	 Staff continue to undertake the government’s ‘Protecting Information’ online 
training. The training is split into three levels and is assessment-based. 

6.59 	 All staff are required to complete the level appropriate to their level of 
responsibility for data handling. All members of staff who have completed the 
training to date successfully passed the assessment. 

6.60 	 The Audit and Risk Committee Chair has provided a statement that he was 
satisfied that we have appropriate policies for staff to adhere to, as far as they 
apply to the Authority, and that suitable processes are in place to mitigate risks to 
our information. 

6.61 	 This statement has been prepared following consideration of the Authority’s 
Annual Assessment of Information Risk Management for 2014/2015 and the 
assurance provided by it. 

6.62 	 We have no personal data incidents to report. 

Scope of responsibility 

6.63 	 As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the Authority’s policies, aims 
and objectives, while safeguarding the public funds and organisational assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me in Managing Public Money. 

6.64 	 The Authority reports to the UK Parliament and works closely with the devolved 
administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales, and with the 
Department of Health in England, to deliver our statutory obligations and the key 
objectives of our business plan. This includes identifying and responding 
appropriately to both internal and external risks. 

The purpose of the system of internal control 

6.65 	 The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; 
it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. 

6.66 	 The system of internal control is designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of organisational policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

6.67 	 Our system of internal control has been in place for the year ended 31 March 
2015 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts, and 
accords with HM Treasury guidance. The key elements of the system of internal 
control include: 

	 Financial procedures detailing financial controls for responsibilities of, and 
authorities delegated to, the management team 

	 Business planning processes setting out the objectives of the Authority 
supported by details of annual income, expenditure, capital and cash flow 
budgets 
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	 Regular reviews of performance along with variance reporting, scenario 
planning and reforecasting. 

Review of effectiveness  

6.68 	 As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. My review is informed by the work of the internal 
auditors, the Directors Group, which has responsibility for the maintenance of the 
internal controls, and comments made by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. The Audit and Risk Committee and Board 
have advised me on the implications of the result of my review on the system of 
internal control. The Scrutiny Committee has this year considered in detail our 
performance against our own standards of our statutory functions. 

6.69 	 The effectiveness of the system of internal control was maintained and reviewed 
through: 


 The Board of the Authority, which met six times 


	 The Audit and Risk Committee, which consists of three members of the 
Board. I also attended the Audit and Risk Committee meetings together with 
the Director of Governance and Operations, the Accounting Manager and 
representatives from the National Audit Office and our internal auditors 

	 Risk management arrangements as described, under which key risks that 
could affect the achievement of our objectives have been managed actively, 
with progress being reported to the Audit and Risk Committee and, through it, 
to the Board of the Authority 

	 Our annual assessment of information risk management undertaken in 
accordance with the Cabinet Office’s guidance 

	 Regular reports from the internal auditors, Grant Thornton, complying with 
the government’s Internal Audit Standards, which include an independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls together 
with recommendations for improvement where necessary 

	 Comments made by external auditors in their management letter and other 
reports. 

6.70 	 Grant Thornton, internal auditors to the Regulators Hub have been our internal 
auditors for the year under review. The Head of Internal Audit in his report for 
2014/2015 stated that: 

Based on the annual plan approved by the Audit Committee, scope of 
reviews undertaken and the sample tests completed during the period, we 
have concluded that controls were suitably designed and operating 
effectively in the areas of governance, risk management and control that 
we reviewed and tested. 

6.71 	 I do not consider that we have any significant weaknesses in our system of 
internal controls. A programme of continuous monitoring exists, in consultation 
with the Audit and Risk Committee, internal auditors and external auditors, to 
ensure that we meet best practice standards in all areas of our operations. 

6.72 	 Our Assurance Framework is monitored along with the risk register by the 
Directors Group, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board. External and 
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iinternal inffluences arre considered and anny potentiaally significaant risks are 
ddiscussed with key sstakeholderrs as soon as they beecome appparent. 

6.73 	 II am satisfied that thiis report addequately reflects thee information risks wwe have 
mmanaged aand that we have connsidered fuuture risks . I consider that we hhave taken 
tthe actionss necessarry to manaage informaation risks effectively y. I am conffident that 
sstaff are awware of theeir responssibility to sttore, sharee and destrroy informaation 
ssecurely and that thee processees we impleemented as a result oof the prevvious 
yyear’s inciddents havee successfully strengthened our procedurres. I am s atisfied 
tthat the miinor informmation risk iincidents wwhich occuurred this yyear were mmanaged 
aappropriateely and thaat no sensiitive informmation was disclosed or lost. 

6.74 	 II confirm thhat the asssessment oof informattion risk maanagemennt has beenn 
ccompleted satisfactoorily and thaat the inforrmation can be used for our Annnual 
GGovernancce Statemeent. 

6.75 	 II confirm wwe have coomplied witth the Codee of Corpoorate Goveernance as detailed 
iin DAO(GEEN)02/12 –– Governance Statemments in soo far as it aapplicable to us. 

HHarry Caytton 
AAccountingg Officer 
55 June 20115 
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7. 	 The Certificate and report of the Comptroller 
and Auditor General to the Houses of 
Parliament, the Scottish Parliament and the 
Northern Ireland Assembly 
I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Professional Standards 
Authority for Health and Social Care for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012. The financial statements comprise: the Statements of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity; and the related notes. These financial statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out within them. I have also audited 
the information in the Remuneration Report that is described in that report as 
having been audited. 

Respective responsibilities of the Board, Accounting Officer and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, 
the Board and the Accounting Officer are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. My 
responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in 
accordance with the National Health Service Reform and Health Care 
Professions Act 2002 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012. I conducted my audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require 
me and my staff to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards 
for Auditor 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by Professional 
Standards Authority for Health and Social Care and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition I read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for 
my certificate. 
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I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied 
to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in 
the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Opinion on regularity 
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the 
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament 
and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the 
authorities which govern them 

Opinion on financial statements 
In my opinion: 

	 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 
Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care’s affairs as at 31 
March 2015 and of the net expenditure for the year then ended; and 

	 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 and Secretary of State directions issued thereunder. 

Opinion on other matters 
In my opinion: 

	 the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly 
prepared in accordance with Secretary of State directions made under the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012; and 

	 the information given in Chief Executive’s Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements. 

Matters on which I report by exception 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if,
 
in my opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my 


audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or 

	 the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be 
audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

	 I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my 
audit; or 

	 the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s 
guidance 
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Report 
           I have no observations to make on these financial statements. 

Sir Amyas C E Morse 
Comptroller and Auditor General 

National Audit Office 
157–197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP 

9 June 2015 
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8. 	 Statement of comprehensive net 
expenditure for the year ended 31 March 
2015 

March 2015 
£’000 

March 2014 
£’000 

Expenditure 
Staff costs 3 1,982 1,878 
Other administrative 
costs 4 2,282 1,722 

Income 
Operating income 5 

(809) (398) 

Net operating cost 3,455 3,202 

The notes on 54 to 67 form part of these accounts. 

Other comprehensive net expenditure 
There was no other comprehensive net expenditure in the year ended 31 March 
2015. 
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Marcch 2015 March 22014 

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’’000 

Non-currentt assets 

Intangible asssets 
6 313 353 

Property, plaant and equipmment 
7 74 113 

Total non-cu 

Current ass 

urrent assets 

sets 

s 387 466 

Trade and otther receivablees 8 337 278 

Cash and caash equivalentts 
9 658 256 

Total currennt assets 995 534 

Total assetss 1,382 11,000 

Current liabbilities 

Trade and otther payables 
10 (330) (253) 

Provisions 11 (8) (6) 

Total currennt liabilities (338) (259) 

Non-current 
assets/(liab 

t assets less 
ilities) 

net current 
1,044 741 

Assets less liabilities 1,044 741 

Reserves 

Reserves 1,044 741 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 The notes oon pages 54 to 67 form ppart of these accounts. 

HHarry Caytoon 
AAccounting Officer 
55 June 2015 

 

 

 

 9. SStatemment oof finaancial positioon as at 31 
Marchh 20155 
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10. Statement of cash flows for the period 
ended 31 March 2015 

Note March 2015 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net operating costs for the year  (3,455) (3,202) 

Adjustment for non-cash transactions 4 115 108 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other 
receivables 

8 (59) 13 

Increase in trade and other payables 10 77 31 

Increase in provisions 11 2 -

Net cash outflow from operating activities (3,320) (3,050) 

Cash flows from investment activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 (36) (67) 

Purchase of intangible assets 6 - (3) 

Net cash outflow from investment 
activities 

(36) (70) 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Grant-in-aid from the Department of Health: 

Revenue  3,395 2,765 

Capital 60 69 

Funding from the Devolved Administrations: 

Scotland 165 180 

Wales  95 103 

Northern Ireland 43 53 

Net cash flow from financing activities 3,758 3,170 

Net financing 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
9 402 50 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the financial year 9 256 206 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the financial period 

9 658 256 

The notes on pages 54 to 67 form part of these accounts. 
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11. Statement of changes in taxpayer's equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2015 

General reserve 

£’000 
Balance as at 31 March 2013 773 

Changes in reserves in the year ended 31 March 2014 

Net operating costs   (3,202) 

Grant-in-aid from the Department of Health: 

Revenue 2,765 

Capital 69 

Funding from the devolved administrations: 

Scotland 180 

Wales 103 

Northern Ireland 53 

Balance as at 31 March 2014 741 

Changes in reserves in the year ended 31 March 2015 

Net operating costs
 (3,455) 

Grant-in-aid from the Department of Health: 

Revenue 3,395 

Capital 60 

Funding from the devolved administrations: 

Scotland 165 

Wales 95 

Northern Ireland 43 

Balance as at 31 March 2015 1,044 

The notes on pages 54 to 67 form part of these accounts. 
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12. Notes to the accounts 

1. Accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
2012/2013 Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM 
Treasury. The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted or interpreted for the UK public 
sector context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the 
accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the Authority for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has 
been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Authority for the reportable 
period are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with 
items that are considered material to the accounts.  

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Authority’s accounting policies, management is required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. 

Non-current assets 

Intangible assets 

Internally generated intangible assets 
An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Authority’s activities and 
expenditure is recognised where all of the following conditions are met: 
 An asset is created that can be identified (such as bespoke software) 

 It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits   

 The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible fixed assets are measured at cost. 

For intangible assets with finite useful lives, amortisation is calculated so as to 
write off the cost of an asset, less its estimated residual value, over its useful 
economic life. 
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Database amortisation had been charged from the date the asset is brought into 
use and is amortised on a straight line basis over 10 years. 

Property plant and equipment 
Non-current assets other than computer software are capitalised as property, 

plant and equipment as follows: 

 Equipment with an individual value of £1,000 or more 


 Grouped assets of a similar nature with a combined value of £1,000 or more 


 Refurbishment costs valued at £1,000 or more. 


Under the principles of modified historical cost accounting, depreciated historical 

cost is deemed a suitable proxy where the asset has a short useful economic life 

or is of low value. Indexation has not been applied since 31 March 2008 as this 

would not be material. Asset valuations are reviewed on an annual basis, at each 

statement of financial position date, to ensure that the carrying value fairly 

reflects current cost. 


Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis, calculated on the revalued
 
amount to write off assets, less any estimated residual balance, over their 

remaining estimated useful life. 


The useful lives of non-current assets have been estimated as follows: 

 Furniture and fittings over the remaining accommodation lease term 


 Computer equipment—three years.  


Depreciation is charged from the month in which the asset is acquired. 


Cash at bank and in hand 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  

In the statement of cash flows, cash is shown net of bank overdrafts held with 
the Government Banking Service (GBS) that form an integral part of the 
Authority’s cash management and over which the Authority has a right of set-
off against other GBS accounts in credit. 

Grant-in-aid and general reserve 

The Authority is financed by grant-in-aid from the Department of Health. 

Revenue grant-in-aid received from the Department of Health, used to finance 
activities and expenditure which support the statutory and other objectives of 
the Authority, is treated as contributions from a controlling party giving rise to a 
financial interest in the residual interest in the Authority, and therefore is 
accounted for as financing by crediting them directly to the general reserve on 
a cash received basis. 
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Financial contributions to the activities of the Authority from the devolved 
administrations are also accounted for as financing by crediting them directly to 
the general reserve on a cash received basis. 

Operating income 
Operating income includes: Section 29 case cost recoveries; premises income 
received from subtenants; and fees received from carrying out work for the 
Chinese University of Hong Kong and the Department of Health in Australia as 
well as accreditation fees received from voluntary register applicants wishing to 
be accredited. 

Voluntary registers’ revenue consists of non-refundable fixed accreditation fees, 
payable when application documents have been submitted to the Authority, and 
renewal fees, payable on the anniversary of the accreditation date. Income from 
both initial and renewal fees is recognised in the operating cost statement in 
accordance with the completion of the Authority’s work in relation to these. 

Comparative costs and restatements 

Section 29 costs and recoveries 
Under its Section 29 powers, the Authority can appeal to the High Court against a 
regulatory body’s disciplinary decisions. Costs incurred by the Authority in 
bringing Section 29 appeals are charged to the operating cost statement on an 
accruals basis. 

As a result of judgements made by the courts, costs may be awarded to the 
Authority if the case is successful or costs may be awarded against the Authority 
if the case is lost. Where costs are awarded to, or against, the Authority, these 
may be subsequently revoked or reduced as a result of a successful appeal 
either by the defendant or by the Authority. Therefore, in bringing either income 
or expenditure to account, the Authority considers the likely outcome of each 
case on a case-by-case basis. 

In the case of costs awarded to the Authority, the income is not brought to 
account unless there is a final uncontested judgement in the Authority’s favour or 
an agreement between parties of the proportion of costs that will be paid and 
submitted to the courts. When a case has been won but the final outcome is still 
subject to appeal, and it is highly probable that the case will be won on appeal 
and costs will be awarded to the Authority, a contingent asset is disclosed. 

In the case of costs awarded against the Authority, expenditure is recognised in 
the income and expenditure where there is a final uncontested judgement against 
the Authority. In addition, where a case has been lost, but the final outcome is 
still subject to appeal, and it is probable that costs will be awarded against the 
Authority, a provision is recognised in the accounts. Where it is possible but not 
probable that the case will be lost on appeal and that costs may be incurred by 
the Authority, or where a sufficiently reliable estimate of the amount payable 
cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed. 
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Value added tax 
Value added tax (VAT) on purchases is not recoverable; hence, it is charged to 
the operating cost statement and included under the heading relevant to the 
type of expenditure, or capitalised if it relates to an asset. 

Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries are recognised in the period in which the service is received from 
employees. The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of 
the year is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees 
are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period. 

Retirement benefit costs 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension 
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run 
in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme; the cost to the NHS body of participating in the scheme is taken as 
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.   

For early retirements, other than those due to ill health, the additional pension 
liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to the income statement at the time the Authority 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.   

Operating leases 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the operating cost 
statement on an accruals basis. 

Foreign exchange 
Transactions which are denominated in a foreign currency are translated into 
Sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the date of each transaction, except where 
rates do not fluctuate significantly, in which case an average rate for a period is 
used. Resulting exchange gains and losses are include in the operating cost 
statement. 

Losses and special payments 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have 
contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. 
By their nature, they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. 
They are divided into different categories that govern the way each individual 
case is handled. 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings 
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had 
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the Authority not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue expenditure). The Authority does not generally 
hold insurance but had specific cover in respect of travel and business continuity. 

Financial instruments 
As required by the FReM, the Authority has accounted for financial instruments 
and made disclosures relating to those financial instruments, in accordance with 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) 32 and 39 and IFRS 7. 

IFRS, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or 
adopted 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, (IAS 8), 
require disclosures in respect of new IFRS, amendments and interpretations that 
are, or will be, applicable after the accounting period. There are a number of 
IFRS, amendments and interpretations issued by the IAS Board that are effective 
for financial statements after this accounting period. The following have not been 
adopted early by the Authority: 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

None of these new or amended standards and interpretations are likely to be 
applicable or are anticipated to have future material impact on the financial 
statements of the Authority. 

Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early 
The Authority has not adopted any IFRS, amendments or interpretations early.    
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2. Analysis of net operating costs by segment 

Segmental analysis 
Net operating costs were incurred by the Authority’s four main expenditure 
streams as follows. The Authority does not maintain separate statements of 
financial position for these teams. There were no intersegmental transactions in 
the year. 

Year ended 
31 March 

2015 

Standards 
and 

regulations 

Government 
commissions 

Chargeable 
activities 

Voluntary 
registers 

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Operating 
costs  3,722 126 144 273 4,265 

Operating 
income (489) - (178) (142) (809) 

Net operating 
costs 

3,233 126 (34) 131 3,456 

Year ended 
31 March 

2014 

Standards 
and 

regulations 

Government 
commissions 

Chargeable 
activities 

Voluntary 
registers 

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Operating 
costs  3,277 9 9 305 3,600 

Operating 
income (244) - (38) (116) (398) 

Net operating 
costs 

3,033 9 (29) 189 3,202 

3. Staff numbers and related costs 

Average number of persons employed 
The average number of full-time and part-time staff employed (including 
temporary staff) during the year is as follows: 

Permanently 
employed 

Other 
Total 

2014/2015 
Permanently 

employed 
Other 

Total 
2013/2014 

Total 32.05 0.72 32.77 33.66 0.91 34.57 

There were no staff members engaged on capital projects in the period up to 31 
March 2015. 
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Costs of persons employed 

Permanently 
employed 

Other 
Total 

2014/2015 
Permanently 

employed 
Other 

Total 
2013/2014 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Salaries 1,595 - 1,595 1,492 - 1,492 

Social security 
costs 159 - 159 138 - 138 

Superannuation 
costs 172 - 172 179 - 179 

Agency/ 
temporary costs - 56 56 - 69 69 

1,926 56 1,982 1,809 69 1,878 

Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes: exit packages 
No redundancy and other departure costs were incurred in the year.  

4. Other administrative costs 

Notes   31 March 2015   31 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 
Members’ remuneration 91 91 
Legal and professional fees 1,038 656 
Premises and fixed plant 636 562 
Training and recruitment 129 97 
PR, communications and 
conferences 

95 58 

Establishment expenses 97 84 
External audit fee* 21 21 
Other costs 60 45 
Non-cash expenditure: 
Amortisation 6 40 40 
Depreciation 7 75 68 
Total administrative costs 2,282 1,722 
* The Authority made payments of £269,000 to the National Audit Office for non-audit work in respect of accommodation 
costs of the Authority for use of office space at 157–197 Buckingham Palace Road, London. 
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5. Operating income 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 

Section 29 cost recoveries 349 60 

Accredited voluntary registers’ income 142 116 

Fees from external customers  178 38 

Subtenancy income 137 175 

Other operating income 3 9 

Total operating Income 809 398 

6. Intangible assets 

31 March 2015 Section 29 database 

£’000 
Valuation 
At 1 April 2014 393 
Additions 0 
At 31 March 2015 393 

Amortisation 
At 1 April 2014 40 
Charge for the period 40 
At 31 March 2015 80 

Net book value 
At 31 March 2015 313 
At 31 March 2014 353 

31 March 2014 Section 29 database 

£’000 
Valuation 
At 1 April 2013 390 
Additions 3 
At 31 March 2014 393 

Amortisation 
At 1 April 2013 0 
Charge for the period 40 
At 31 March 2014 40 

Net book value 
At 31 March 2014 353 
At 31 March 2013 390 
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7. Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

31 March 2015 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

fittings 
IT equipment Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Valuation 

At 1 April 2014 126 310 436 
Additions 2  34  36  
At 31 March 2015 128 344 472 

Depreciation 
At 1 April 2014 96 227 323 
Charge in period 20 55 75 
At 31 March 2015 116 282 398 

Net book value 
At 31 March 2015 12 62 74 
At 31 March 2014 30 83 113 

All assets above are wholly owned by the Authority without any related financial 
liabilities. 

31 March 2014 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

fittings 
IT equipment Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Valuation 

At 1 April 2013 117 252 369 
Additions 9  58  67  
At 31 March 2014 126 310 436 

Depreciation 
At 1 April 2013 78 177 255 
Charge in period 18 50 68 
At 31 March 2014 96 227 323 

Net book value 
At 31 March 2014 30 83 113 
At 31 March 2013 39 75 114 
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Trade receivables and other current assets 

Amounts falling due within one year: 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 

Trade and other receivables 152 85 

Prepayments 185 193 

Total trade and other receivables 337 278 

There are no trade receivables and other current assets falling due after more 
than one year. 

Intra-government balances 
Intra-government balances within the totals for trade receivables and other 
current assets are as follows: 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 

Balances with other central government 
bodies - 3 

Balances with local authorities 136 145 

Total intra-government balances 136 148 

Balances with bodies external to the 
government 

201 130 

Total trade and other receivables 337 278 

8. Cash and cash equivalents 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 

Balance at 1 April 2014 256 206 

Net changes in cash and cash equivalent 
balances 

402 50 

Balance at 31 March 2015 658 256 

The following balances were held at: 

The Government Banking Service 563 253 

Commercial banks and cash in hand 95 3 

Balance at 31 March 2015 658 256 
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9. Trade payables and other current liabilities 

Amounts falling due with one year: 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 

Trade and other payables 57 73 

Taxation and social security 48 52 

Accruals and deferred income 225 128 

Total trade and other payables 330 253 

There were no trade payables and other current liabilities falling due after more 
than one year.

 Intra-government balances 
Intra-government balances within the totals for trade payables and other current 
liabilities are as follows: 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

£’000 £’000 

Balances with other central 
government bodies 

60 53 

Balances with NHS bodies 5 -

Total intra-government balances 65 53 

Balances with bodies external to the 
government 

265 200 

Total trade and other payables 330 253 

10. Provisions for liabilities and charges 

HMRC provision 

£’000 

Balance at 31 March 2014 6 

Arising during the period 8 

Provision used (6) 

Balance at 31 March 2015 8 

The HMRC provision as at 31 March 2015 represents the Authority’s estimated 
liability for income tax and National Insurance Contributions in relation to Board 
members’ travel and subsistence expenses. 
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11. Contingent assets and liabilities 

Assets 
One High Court case had been decided in the Authority’s favour as at 31 March 
2015; however, the exact quantum of settlement was not decided at that date 
and has been estimated based on the proportions of costs recovered by the 
Authority over the past three years. 

Liabilities 
Seven High Court cases under the Authority’s Section 29 powers were 
undecided as at 31 March 2015. There was therefore uncertainty, as at that date, 
as to the related financial consequences, pending a final judgment.  

Judgment by the High Court may permit recovery of these Authority costs or, 
alternatively, issue a charge to the Authority of the costs of the regulatory body 
and its registrant. 

12. Capital commitments 

The Authority had no capital commitments as at the statement of financial 
position dates. 

13. Commitments under leases 

Operating leases 

The Authority’s expenses include rent and service charge payments under 
operating lease rentals.  

The Authority had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating 
leases: 

Buildings 
31 March 

2015 
31 March 

2014 

£’000 £’000 

Not later than one year 276 267 

Later than one year and not later than five years 866 156 

Total commitments under operating leases 1,142 423 

The Authority’s current lease ends in October 2015. Negotiations have been 
taking place to extend it and terms have been agreed. 

The Authority subleases its premises to two subtenants and recognises rent and 
service charge sublease receipts as income. 

Total future minimum lease receipts due to the Authority under operating leases 
are given in the table below: 
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Future minimum sublease receipts 
31 March 

2015 
31 March 

2014 

£’000 £’000 

Not later than one year 69 93 

Later than one year and not later than five years 104 54 

Total minimum sublease receipts  173 147 

Finance leases 
The Authority did not have any finance leases in the period up to 31 March 2015. 

14. Related parties 

The Authority has ultimate accountability to the UK Parliament.  

The Authority is an unclassified public body. While it continues to be funded by 
the Department of Health, it remains sponsored by the Department. 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year ended 
31 March 2015, the Department of Health provided total grant-in-aid of £3.46 
million (2013/2014: £2.83 million). 

The Authority received funding contributions towards its activities in the year from 
the devolved administrations in Northern Ireland (£0.04 million), Scotland (£0.17 
million), and Wales (£0.10 million). In 2013/2014, the Authority received £0.05 
million from Northern Ireland, £0.18 million from Scotland and £0.10 million from 
Wales. 

The Authority maintains a register of interests for the Chair and Board members, 
which is available on the website. The register is updated on a periodic basis by 
the Executive Secretary to reflect any change in Board members’ interests. 
During the year ended 31 March 2015, no Council member undertook any related 
party transactions with the Authority.  

The senior management team is also asked to disclose any related party 
transactions. During 2014/2015, there were no disclosures. 

15. Losses and special payments 

There were no material losses and special payments in the period. 

16. Post statement of financial position events 

These accounts were authorised for issue on 9 June by the Accounting Officer. 
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17. Financial instruments 

Financial risk management 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial 
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body 
faces in undertaking its activities. 

The relationship that the Authority has with the Department of Health, and the 
way it is financed, means that its exposure is reduced. In addition, the Authority 
has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and its financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities; thus, the effects of 
the financial instruments on changing risk is again reduced. 

Debtors and creditors that are due to mature or become payable within 12 
months from the statement of financial position date have been omitted from all 
disclosures. 

Currency risk 
The Authority is a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, 
assets and liabilities being in the UK and Sterling-based. The Authority has no 
overseas operations. Therefore, the Authority has low exposure to currency rate 
fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk 

The Authority has no borrowing and relies primarily on grant-in-aid from the 
Department of Health and financial contributions from the devolved 
administrations. Therefore, the Authority has low exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations.  

As at 31 December 2015, the Authority had a non-interest bearing cash balance 
of £658,000. 

Credit risk 
Because the majority of the Authority’s funding income comes from the 
Department of Health, with contributions from the devolved administrations, the 
Authority has low exposure to credit risk.   

Liquidity risk 
The Authority relies primarily on grant-in-aid from the Department of Health, 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament, and contributions from the 
devolved administrations; therefore, the Authority has low exposure to liquidity 
risk. 

67 


	Annual Report and Accounts and Performance Review Report 2014/2015
	Contents
	1. Chair''s foreword
	2. Strategic report
	3. Chief Executive's report
	4. Remuneration report
	5. Statement of the Board's and the Accounting Officer's responsibilities
	6. Governance statement
	7. The Certificate and report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament, the Scottish Parliament and the Northern Ireland Assembly
	8. Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2015
	9. Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015
	10. Statement of cash flows for the period ended 31 March 2015
	11. Statement of changes in taxpayer's equity for the year ended 31 March 2015
	12. Notes to the accounts


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




